IMPORTANT NOTICES
This prospectus (“Prospectus”) is dated 13th November 2018. A copy of this Prospectus has been lodged with
the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (“ASIC”). ASIC takes no responsibility for the contents of
this Prospectus or the merits of the investments to which this Prospectus relates. This Prospectus is available
in this paper form and also in electronic form at www.wdfinance.com.au.
The invitation to invest is available to persons who receive this Prospectus and application form within
Australia. If you have received an electronic copy of the Prospectus, you may obtain a paper copy free of
charge (03) 5337 0088. No notes (“W&D Secured Notes” or “Secured Notes” or “Notes”) will be issued on the
basis of this Prospectus within seven days of its lodgment with ASIC or after its expiry date of 12th December
2019. Webster Dolilta Finance Limited (the “Company”) reserves the right to close the Prospectus at an
earlier date.
This Prospectus is an important document and should be read in its entirety. Before deciding to invest, you
should consider whether W&D Secured Notes are a suitable investment for you. The information in this
Prospectus is of a general nature and has been prepared without taking account of your personal objectives,
financial situation or needs. This Prospectus is not a statement of advice. Neither the Company or its directors,
or Melbourne Securities Corporation Limited (the “Trustee”) or any of their related parties make any
representation as to the performance of the W&D Secured Notes, the maintenance of capital or any particular
return. You should carefully consider these factors in light of your personal circumstances (including financial
and taxation issues) and seek professional advice if necessary before investing.
Any material change to information contained within this Prospectus will be the subject of continuous
disclosure via the Company’s website www.wdfinance.com.au.
The Company refers to and adopts ASIC Corporations (Debenture Prospectuses) Instrument 2016/75. Details
on interest rates are not contained in this Prospectus. The Company issues a separate Interest Rate Card
which accompanies this Prospectus.
The Company is not authorised under the Banking Act and is not supervised by the Australian Prudential
Regulation Authority (APRA). The depositor protection provisions in section 13A of the Banking Act, 1959, will
not cover W&D Secured Notes. Investments with the Company are not covered by the Financial Claims
Scheme established under Division 2AA of the Banking Act 1959.
Melbourne Securities Corporation Limited is the Trustee for the holders of the W&D Secured Notes under the
Trust Deed dated 17 December 1999 which created a floating charge over the assets of the Company. The
Trustee has a first-ranking security interest registered on the Personal Property Securities Register for all
present and after-acquired property without exceptions. Neither the directors, or the Trustee or any of their
related parties guarantee the obligations of the Company for the repayment of capital or payment of interest
on the W&D Secured Notes.
This Prospectus can only be used by investors receiving it (electronically or otherwise) in Australia. No action
has been taken to register or qualify the W&D Secured Notes or otherwise to permit a public offering of the
W&D Secured Notes in any jurisdiction outside Australia. Accordingly, the distribution of this Prospectus in
jurisdictions outside Australia is limited and may be restricted by law. Persons wishing to invest who are not in
Australia should familiarise themselves with and observe any such restrictions when deciding whether or not to
invest in the W&D Secured Notes.
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1.

COMPANY PROFILE

Webster Dolilta Finance Ltd ACN 004 664 322 (the Company) commenced business in 1966 with its main
activities being raising funds by issuing Secured Notes and lending on the security of registered mortgages
over freehold land.
In the past 52 years the Company has generally enjoyed steady growth and profitability and no depositor with
the Company has lost any capital or not been paid any interest when due since the Company’s inception.
The Company is a member of the Provincial Finance Group Inc. (PFG), an industry association representing
independent note issuing companies. PFG members are based in regional centres across Victoria and New
South Wales. The PFG has a code of ethics regulating members’ operations and members’ compliance helping
promote best practice. PFG members also meet regularly with industry regulators and government on the
social and business impacts of the regulatory framework in which members operate, to help members meet
the needs of their customers.
The Company holds an Australian Financial Services Licence No 234971, which authorizes the Company to
deal in securities for retail clients.

TRUSTEE FOR NOTE HOLDERS
Melbourne Securities Corporation Limited
Level 2 Professional Chambers
120 Collins Street
MELBOURNE VIC 3000
Telephone: 1300 798 790

1.1 CORPORATE DIRECTORY:

Company’s Registered Office and
Principal Place of Business
44 Armstrong Street South
BALLARAT VIC 3350
Telephone - (03) 5337 0088

AUDITOR
RSM Australia Partners
12 Anderson Street West
BALLARAT VIC 3350

9 Lydiard Street North
BALLARAT VIC 3350
Telephone – (03) 5331 3100
56 Vincent Street
DAYLESFORD VIC 3460
Telephone – (03) 5348 2225

ACCOUNTANT
PPT Accounting
20 Lydiard Street South
Ballarat VIC 3350

E-mail
admin@wdfinance.com.au
Website www.wdfinance.com.au

SOLICITORS TO THE COMPANY
Baird & McGregor Pty Ltd
9 Lydiard Street North
BALLARAT VIC 3350
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2. CHAIRMAN’S LETTER
Dear Investor
On behalf of the Directors of Webster Dolilta Finance Limited (W&D Finance), I am pleased to present the
twenty-first Prospectus.
This Prospectus is designed to help you make an informed decision about whether you should invest in the
Investment Notes of W&D Finance. We welcome new investors. We also take this opportunity to thank our loyal
clients for their ongoing support. W&D’s investor funds were $81.3 million and loans were $60.9 million as at
31 October 2018.
W&D Finance has conservative operating policies and remains in a strong financial position. We continue to
offer our valued present and future clients a competitive, attractive non-bank option for investment and
borrowing of funds. Our dedicated Directors and Staff will continue to meet the challenges of new
developments within our Industry over the next 12 months.
W&D Finance have been part of the Ballarat community for more than 50 years, W&D have a strong sense of
social conscience and always try to put back into the local community through sponsorship, scholarship and
promotion.
During 2017/2018 we have once again been proud to sponsor a scholarship awarded under the Albert Coates
Memorial Trust to a 2nd year Bio-Medical Student. This was our 8th year of providing the award, and we have
encouraged our staff to become involved in supporting local charities. Along with this our Directors and staff
are all actively involved in many clubs, charities and organisations within the Ballarat region and see this as an
important part of the role they play as a community member. W&D have significant sponsorship arrangements
with local sporting clubs.
After 11 years as Chairman I would like to recognise the contribution Bill McGregor has made to the continuing
success of the company, Bill will continue as a board member.
The Directors and staff of W&D remain committed to the Company, and the community, and look forward to
another successful year ahead for both.

TIMOTHY BUNNING
CHAIRMAN
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3. DIRECTORS AND COMPANY OFFICERS
3.1 DIRECTORS
Timothy S. BUNNING (CPA B.Ec)

Chairman

Tim was appointed Director in January 2016. He is a Certified Practising Accountant and consultant to PPT
Accounting and has 41 years of experience in audit and other areas of public practice. Tim is a member of the
Audit committee and is chair of the Loans committee.
William (Bill) H. McGREGOR OAM LL.B.

Director

Bill was appointed as a Director and Chairman of W&D Finance in 2007. He established Webster Investments
Ltd in 1966, and then in 2007 merged with Dolilta Investments Ltd. Bill is a solicitor, and is a previous
partner, and now consultant to Ballarat Legal firm Baird & McGregor Solicitors. Bill has been directly involved
in the business for more than 50 years. Bill sits on the Loans and Remuneration sub-committees.
Neale J. GRIBBLE LL.B B.Comm
Director
Neale was appointed Director of W&D Finance in 2007. Neale holds degrees in Law and Commerce from
Melbourne University. He is a Director of Ballarat legal firm Baird & McGregor Solicitors, a company he joined
in 2001, when he also became a Director of Webster Investments Ltd (now W&D Finance). Neale serves on the
Audit sub-committee.
Robert (Andrew) A. BAIRD BA. LL.B.
Director
Andrew was appointed Director of W&D Finance in 2007 and is also a Director of Ballarat legal firm Baird &
McGregor Solicitors, where his key focus is on the conveyancing and mortgage areas of the firm. Andrew
began working as a Solicitor in 1985, and was a former Director of Webster Investments Ltd prior to the
company’s merger with Dolilta Investments Ltd. – now W&D Finance. Andrew is a member of the Audit subcommittees. He is also a Responsible Manager of the Company.
Philip C. CUNNINGHAM FIPA GAICD
Managing Director
Philip was appointed Director of W&D Finance in 1997 and has been Managing Director since 1999, the same
year the company issued its first prospectus. Philip is also a Director of one of Ballarat’s oldest real estate
firms Doepel Lilley & Taylor, and mortgage broking firm DHL Stateplan. Philip is a graduate member of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors, a fellow of the Institute of Public Accountants and a licensed real
estate agent. Philip is responsible for the day to day running of the business, and is closely involved with all
aspects of the loans approval process. Philip serves on the Remuneration and Loans sub-committee, he is also
a Responsible Manager of the Company.
Robert G. CUNNINGHAM CEA (REIV)
Director
Robert was appointed Director in 1997. Rob is also a Director and Principal of Doepel Lilley & Taylor Real
Estate and is a licenced estate agent, and a Director of mortgage broking firm DHL Stateplan. Rob is chair of
the Audit sub-committee.
Robert (Bob) N. WHITCHER FIPA ANZIIF(Assoc)

Director

Bob was appointed Director in 1986. Bob recently retired as a Director from Doepel Lilley & Taylor but
continues to be involved with DLT Insurances. He is a licenced Estate Agent, a Fellow of the Institute of Public
Accountants and an Associate of the Australian & New Zealand Institute of Insurance and Finance. Bob is a
member of the Loans committee.
3.2 SENIOR MANAGEMENT
William (Bill) F. BAHR F FIN FIFS AFAIM AMFAA

Manager, Compliance

Bill joined Webster Investments, now W&D Finance, in 1996 after 23 years in Banking with the ANZ Bank and
the Bank of Melbourne. Bill holds a Diploma of Management from the University of Ballarat and is a Fellow of
the Financial Services Institute of Australia. Bill is an Associate Fellow of the Australian Institute of
Management. Bill is an ex-officio member of the Loans committee and the Audit committee.
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Kara L. STEPHENS

Operations Manager

Kara commenced employment with W&D Finance in February 2007 as Customer Service Officer and is
currently the company’s Operations Manager. Kara manages W&D Finance’s electronic funds transfer
systems and the software platform.
Deb M. BRUHN

Operations Supervisor

Deb commenced with W&D Finance in May 2016 previously working with Doepel Lilley & Taylor. Deb has
exceptional administrative and customer service skills which she will use to assist W&D clients in all aspects of
their requirements.
3.3 CUSTOMER SERVICE OFFICER
Kerryn J. OPIE

Customer Service Officer

Kerryn commenced with Baird & McGregor in 1978, she is a Customer Service Officer for W&D Finance. Kerryn
enjoys dealing with the many clients she has met over the years and assisting them with all aspects of their
requirements.
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4. INVESTMENT OVERVIEW
This section of the Prospectus highlights key information to help investors assess the risk and returns
associated with this offer in order to make informed investment decisions.
4.1 GLOSSARY
This Glossary highlights key terms and their meaning in this document.
ACL

Australia Credit Licence issued by ASIC pursuant to the National Consumer
Credit Protection Act 2009.

AFSL

Australian Financial Services Licence issued by ASIC pursuant to the
Corporations Act.

Applicant/s

A person/s or entity who submits an Investment Application Form.

ASIC

Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

Board

The Board of Directors of Webster Dolilta Finance Ltd.

Company, issuer, we, our, us

Webster Dolilta Finance Limited.

Corporations Act

Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), including regulations made for the purposes
of that Act.

Directors

The Directors of Webster Dolilta Finance Ltd.

Interest Rate Card

An Interest Rate Card included in or accompanied by this Prospectus which
sets out the current interest rates and investment terms.

Investment Application Form

An Investment Application Form included in or accompanied by this
Prospectus.

Notes or Secured Note/s

A note/s issued by Webster Dolilta Finance Ltd on the terms and
conditions set out in this Prospectus and the Trust Deed.

Investor/s, you, your

A Person/s or entity who completes an Investment Application Form, has
paid their Application Monies and is issued W&D Secured Notes.

LVR

Loan to valuation ratio.

Maturity date

The date on which your “Fixed Term” investment term expires.

Offer

The offer under this Prospectus to acquire W&D Secured Notes.

Our offices

44 Armstrong Street South, Ballarat, Victoria
9 Lydiard Street North, Ballarat, Victoria
56 Vincent Street, Daylesford, Victoria

Prospectus

This Prospectus dated 13th November 2018

Trust Deed

The Trust Deed between Webster Dolilta Finance Ltd and the Trustee
dated 17th December 1999

Trustee

Melbourne Securities Corporation Limited ACN 160 326 545
Level 2, Professional Chambers, 120 Collins Street, Melbourne VIC 3000
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4.2 BUSINESS MODEL
This business model explains what the Company does and how the Company expects to generate income and
provide a return to Secured Note holders.
The Company’s business model is to raise funds from investors through the issue of W&D Secured Notes under
this Prospectus to provide for the Company’s principal activity, which is to lend these funds on the security of
registered mortgages over titles to real properties (i.e. real estate) principally in Victoria and to invest in other
investments as permitted by the Trust Deed. The Company profits are derived primarily from the difference
between its average interest rate on mortgage loans and investment of liquid funds and the average rate of
interest paid to Secured Note holders (its profit margin). Secured Note holders do not participate in the profits
of the Company, but receive a rate of return (interest) on their investments.
The Company engages in small land subdivision developments in the Ballarat region on land that it owns from
time to time. The Company has had considerable experience over the past 30 years. These developments in the
past have generated considerable profits for the Company.
The key risks associated with this business model are addressed in subsection 4.4 Risks of this Prospectus.
Details of the composition of the Company’s mortgage portfolio are contained in Section 5 ‘ASIC Benchmarks
for Unlisted Notes’ or Section 8.5 ‘Statistical Information’ of this Prospectus.
4.3 THE OFFER AND KEY FEATURES OF THE PRODUCT
This subsection highlights details of the offer and key features of the product.
Webster Dolilta Finance Limited
Webster Dolilta Finance Limited has been in operation since 1966. During this time it has never defaulted on a
payment of principal or interest to an investor.
Amount to be raised by the offer
There are no minimum or maximum amounts to be raised under this Prospectus.
Term of the offer
This Prospectus is dated 13th November 2018. No W&D Secured Notes will be allotted or issued on the basis of
this Prospectus after the expiry date, which is 12th December 2019.
Purpose of the offer
The funds raised under this Prospectus will be used to fund the expansion of the Company’s principal activity,
being the lending of funds to borrowers on a ‘secured basis’ by a registered mortgage over real property generally
not exceeding 80% of valuation and making other investments as permitted by the Trust Deed.
Types of investments available
‘Fixed Term’ (fixed interest rate) or 31 Day Notice (variable interest rate) W&D Secured Notes.
How to invest
Simply complete the Investment Application Form accompanying this Prospectus and, together with your cheque,
either mail it to us or lodge it at either of the Company’s registered offices. New investors will also need to provide
sufficient identification. Please contact the Company to enquire about our current identification requirements.

Australian Financial Services Licence No: 234971
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Who can invest?
Investments can be opened in single or joint names, or in the names of partnerships, superannuation funds,
trusts, deceased estates, businesses, companies and other incorporated/unincorporated bodies. Investments
for trusts and superannuation funds should be opened in the name(s) of the trustee(s).
Minimum investment amount
$500.00
Investment terms
‘Fixed Terms’ ranging from 31 days to 36 months or 31 Day Notice.
Interest rates
An Interest Rate Card accompanies this Prospectus. Applicants should confirm that the interest rates and terms
are current prior to completing an Investment Application Form, either by contacting one of the Company’s
registered offices or visiting the Company’s website www.wdfinance.com.au. For ‘Fixed Term’ investments, the
interest rate is fixed for the term chosen by you. 31 Day Notice investments receive an interest rate that is
variable during the period of your investment.
When is interest paid?
Interest is paid on 31 Day Notice investments in arrears on the 15th May and 15th November each year or on
redemption. Interest on ‘Fixed Term’ investments is paid in arrears at regular intervals based on client
instructions, this can be either at maturity, monthly, three monthly or six monthly as displayed on the Investment
Rates Card accompanying this prospectus.
How is interest paid?
Interest on 31 Day Notice investments must be credited to the 31 Day Notice Account. Interest on ‘Fixed Term’
investments may be added to the “Fixed Term’ investment or transferred directly to a Financial Institution.
How is interest calculated?
Interest is calculated and accrues on the investment daily from the date of receipt of your application monies.
Security
Repayment of all monies that have been or may be invested with the Company is secured by a floating charge
over the assets of the Company in favour of Melbourne Securities Corporation Limited as trustee for the holders
of W&D Secured Notes. Melbourne Securities Corporation Limited has registered a first-ranking security interest
on the Personal Property Securities Register for all of the Company's present and after-acquired property.
What happens when my ‘Fixed Term’ Investment reaches its maturity date?
Approximately one to two weeks before the investment falls due we will notify you in writing of the upcoming
maturity of your investment and offer you the opportunity to reinvest with us for a further term. If written
instructions are not received for a renewal or withdrawal of Notes by the Company, the Notes shall, upon
maturity, be re-invested for the same term at the current rate of interest payable at the time applicable to that
term.
How will I know if you have accepted my investment?
As soon as reasonably practicable and no later than two months from the receipt of application monies we will
forward to you a ‘Secured Note Certificate’ for ‘Fixed Term’ investments and 31 Day Notice investments will
receive an opening statement.
If accepted by the Company, investors adding to an existing ‘Fixed Term’ investment will be issued with an
investment receipt as confirmation.
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Early withdrawal
The Company will consider early withdrawals from a “Fixed Term” investment only in special circumstances. This
will be at the sole discretion of the Company and may be subject to an adjustment of the interest rate.
Fees
The Company reserves the right to charge a monthly administration fee of $10 on Investment accounts with
balances of $1,000 or less.
Other
The Company reserves the right to accept or reject applications and also the right to redeem early any Secured
Note by giving 30 days written notice to the holder and redemption may be with or without a premium over and
above interest earned up to and including the date of redemption.
More detailed disclosure is contained in Section 6 ‘Details of the Issue’, Section 5 ‘ASIC Benchmarks for Unlisted
Notes’ and the Important Notices located at the front of this Prospectus document.
4.4 RISKS
This subsection highlights details of the key risks associated with an investment with Webster Dolilta Finance
Limited.
The Company maintains a risk management system plan in order to identify, analyse, evaluate, treat and monitor
risk. This process provides a structured approach to ensure strategies are in place to meet the Company’s
obligations under the Corporations Act, its AFSL as well as other core risks including human resource, financial,
technology, internal and external business and economic risks which may impact on the Company’s operations.
All investments involve risk and there is a risk to Secured Note holders of a loss of either principal or interest.
The key risks monitored by the Company are detailed in the following table:
Risks

Liquidity

Financial
Performance

Further information in this
Prospectus

Details
Liquidity is a measure of the short-term financial health of the
Company. Too little liquidity may mean that the Company has
insufficient cash or cash equivalents to meet its projected cash
needs. That could result in the Company being unable to meet
its obligations to pay interest on Notes when due or to repay
principal on maturity. Too much liquidity may also be a factor that
results in reduced profits.
The financial performance of the Company may be influenced by
many factors, including fluctuations in market interest rates and
the composition of the Company’s investment and mortgage
portfolio. Too little or no profit margin will have an effect on the
Company’s ability to meet its financial commitments. The
Company continuously monitors its profit margin to endeavour
to maintain it within an acceptable range while simultaneously
monitoring budgets, cash flows, income, expenditure and
legislative requirements. Many of the investors in the Company’s
Notes are residents in the Ballarat region. Their ability and
willingness to invest in the Company’s Notes will to some extent
depend on the state of the regional economy. A local recession
could result in a significant reduction in investment in Notes and
an increase in defaults under loans made in the region.

Refer to Benchmark 2:
Liquidity under Section 5
‘ASIC Benchmark for
Unlisted Notes’ for details on
how the Company manages
this risk.

Refer to subsection 6.7
‘Security and Risk
Assessment’ together with
Benchmark 4: Debt maturity
and Benchmark 5: Loan
portfolio under Section 5
‘ASIC Benchmark for
Unlisted Notes’ for details on
how the Company manages
this risk.
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Loan Portfolio

Equity

The financial circumstances of borrowers may change from time
to time, as may the value of properties held as security for loans
advanced and the diversification of the Company’s loan portfolio.
There is a risk of borrowers defaulting on loans, which may result
in a loss of principal and/or interest to the Company. The ability
of the Company to meet its repayment obligations to Investment
Note holders is dependent on the performance of the Company’s
loan portfolio together with the performance of its investment
portfolio and cash flows. Approximately 70% of the Company’s
loans are made on the security of properties in the Ballarat
region. That means that the Company is exposed to the risk of a
reduction in property valuations if there was a recession in the
region which could arise from factors such as the loss of
important local industries of difficult conditions in the local
farming sector.
Equity is the money invested by the owners of the Company
(plus any profits retained by the Company). If the Company had
a higher level of equity it would be better able to withstand
losses on loans. If the Company did incur losses on loans that
reduced its equity too far it would either have to raise more
share capital or stop issuing Notes.

Refer Section 5 ‘ASIC
Benchmark for Unlisted Notes’
together with subsection 6.7
‘Security and Risk
Assessment’ for details of
Company’s loan portfolio,
which includes details of the
Company’s loans past due, the
lending policies the Company
has adopted to manage and
control risk and its approach
to taking security in relation to
its lending

Refer to Benchmark: 1
Equity ratio under Section 5
‘ASIC Benchmark for
Unlisted Notes’ for details on
how the Company manages
this risk.

4.5 FINANCIAL INFORMATION
This subsection provides key financial information about the Company’s financial position and performance.
The Company’s net profit (loss) after tax for each of the previous four financial years is as follows:
2018 $637,492
2017 ($4,907)
2016 ($41,412)
2015 $622,429
As at 30 June 2018 the Company held equity capital of $7,123,507.
The Directors were satisfied with the operating performance of the group during the year and that the Company’s
current equity level is adequate for the nature of its business. Past performance is not a guarantee of future
performance.
TheIndependent Limited Assurance Report on the Company's compilation of financial information is set out in
Section 7 of this Prospectus and should be referred to for further detail. The applicable criteria on which the
Directors have compiled the financial information extracted from the audited financial statements of the
Company from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2018 for inclusion in the prospectus are as follows;
• the historical performance of the Company for the four years ended 30 June 2018 (section 7.1);
• historical statement of financial positions as at 30 June 2017 and 2018 (section 7.2); and
• related notes for the year ended 30 June 2018 as determined necessary by Directors (section 7.3).
Secured Note holders do not participate in the profits of the Company, but receive a rate of return (interest) on
their investments.
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4.6 DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERS, INTERESTS AND BENEFITS
This subsection details the Directors and Key Managers of the Company, their interests and any related party
transactions.
The Directors and Key Managers of the Company are:
Timothy S Bunning
Director/Chairman
William H McGregor
Director
Robert N Whitcher
Director
R Andrew Baird
Director
Robert G Cunningham
Director
Neale J Gribble
Director
Philip C Cunningham
Managing Director
William (Bill) F Bahr
Manager, Compliance and Systems
Kara Stephens
Operations Manager
Deb Bruhn
Operations Supervisor
Section 3 ‘Directors and Company Officers’ of this Prospectus details each Director’s role and expertise.
Subsection 8.5 ‘Corporations Act Requirements’ of this Prospectus details the interests each Director has in the
Company. Each Director is entitled to receive dividends on their shareholdings, salaries and other entitlements
as employees and Directors’ fees.
This Prospectus is an important document and should be read in its entirety. Before deciding to invest, you
should consider whether investments in W&D Secured Notes are a suitable investment for you. Your financial
adviser can help you determine whether investing in W&D Secured Notes is appropriate for you taking account
of your objectives, financial situation and needs.
5.

ASIC BENCHMARKS FOR UNLISTED NOTES

In February 2012 ASIC issued a further version of Regulatory Guide 69 entitled "Debentures and unsecured
notes -improving disclosure for retail investors” which set out some guidelines for disclosure in the form of 8
benchmarks. ASIC considers that note issuers should disclose whether they comply with those benchmarks and
if they do not they should explain why that is. This section of this Prospectus addresses those benchmarks.
ASIC has produced an investor guide “Investing in debentures?” to help investors understand and use the
disclosure benchmarks and promote informed decision-making. The investor guide is available at
www.moneysmart.gov.au.
Benchmark 1: Equity capital
Benchmark 2: Liquidity
Benchmark 3: Rollover
Benchmark 4: Debt maturity
Benchmark 5: Loan portfolio
Benchmark 6: Related party transactions
Benchmark 7: Valuations
Benchmark 8: Lending principles—loan-to-valuation ratios
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Benchmark 1: Equity Capital
Webster Dolilta Finance Limited does not comply with ASIC’s benchmark with regards to Equity Capital.
ASIC’s benchmark is that issuers should report on the following equity ratio benchmarks:
a)

b)
c)

d)

where more than a minor part (e.g. 10%) of the issuer’s activities is property development or lending
funds directly or indirectly for property development – the issuer should maintain a minimum equity
ratio of 20%;
in all other cases – the issuer should maintain a minimum equity ratio of 8%;
the issuer’s equity ratio should be calculated as follows:
Total Equity
Total Liabilities + Total Equity
the issuer should disclose its comparative equity ratio from the prior year.

Explanation: If the issuer has less equity capital invested in the business, there might be no safety margin to tide
things over if the business runs into financial difficulties. It could also mean that the issuer has less incentive to
operate the business prudently and responsibly because less of its own money is at risk.
Equity Capital is the real value of the Company at a point in time; or the owners’ value in the Company. As at the
30 June 2018 the Company had $7,123,507 in equity capital (30 June 2017: $6,835,618). As at 31 October
2018 the Company had $7,127,542 in equity capital.
This can be expressed as a financial ratio by dividing the equity capital of the Company by the total debt of the
Company plus equity capital. As at the 30 June 2018 this ratio as a percentage was 8.23% (30 June 2017:
8.12%). As at 31 October 2018 the Company's equity ratio was 7.97%.
Equity Capital provides a buffer for the Company should unrecoverable losses occur.
More details are provided below for the Company's compliance with Benchmark 1 at both 30 June 2018 and 31
October 2018.
30 June 2018
As at 30 June 2018 the Company had:
•
•
•

$77,240,423 in notes on issue;
8 loans for property development which total $7,602,959 ; and
one property subdivision of 24 allotments (held by the Company as principal) which the Company
considers to be a property development investment, valued at $956,205.

Therefore, at 30 June 2018 the Company has $8,559,164 exposure to activities in property development (or
lending funds for property development) which is 11.08% as a proportion of notes on issue, being more than
the 10% threshold recommended by ASIC. Therefore the capital ratio to be disclosed against is 20%.
31 October 2018
As at 31 October 2018 the Company has:
•
•

$81,301,267 in notes on issue;
9 loans for property development which total $10,785,752; and
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•

one property subdivision of 24 allotments (held by the Company as principal) which the Company
considers to be a property development investment, valued at $957,662.

Therefore, at 31 October 2018 the Company has $11,743,414 exposure to activities in property development
(or lending funds for property development) which is 14.44% as a proportion of notes on issue, being more than
the 10% threshold recommended by ASIC. Therefore the capital ratio to be disclosed against is 20%.
In calculating the figures above, the expression “property development” has been used in its widest sense to
include loans to finance land subdivision and property improvement loans. On this basis, the Company did not
comply with Benchmark 1 at 30 June 2018 or as at 31 October 2018 due to not meeting the required equity
capital ratio of 20%.
Where loans are made for property development the loan to valuation ratio rarely exceeds 70% and is usually
less. That means that the borrower has significant funds of its own in the projects which are at risk before the
funds advanced by the Company

For the above reasons the directors of the Company believe that its current level of equity capital is adequate
for its current activities.
No investor in Notes of the Company has lost any part of the money invested nor has the Company ever failed
to pay interest on Notes since the Company commenced its activities in 1966.
Benchmark 2: Liquidity
Webster Dolilta Finance Limited complies with ASIC’s benchmark with regards to Liquidity.
ASIC’s benchmark is that all issuers should:
a)
b)

have cash flow estimates for the next three months; and
ensure that at all times they have cash or cash equivalents sufficient to meet their projected cash needs
over the next three months.

All issuers should also disclose whether they would have cash on hand or cash equivalents sufficient to meet
their projected cash needs if:
a)
b)

the percentage of note funds to be rolled over during the next three months were 20% less than the
percentage that was rolled over in the past three months; or
for note funds that are held on an “at call” basis – the amount of note funds retained during the next
three months were 20% less than the amount that was retained during the past three months.

Explanation: Liquidity is an important measure of the short-term financial health of an issuer or business. If the
issuer has insufficient cash or liquid assets, it might be unable to meet its short-term obligations (eg: to run the
business properly, pay interest, or pay investors their money back at the end of the term).
Liquidity is the amount of cash or receivables that a company possesses to ensure it can readily meet any
withdrawal of Note funds or fund the mortgage operations of the Company. As at the 31 October 2018 the
Company held liquidity of $20,404,100 or 25.10% of Notes. The Company maintains a minimum of 7.5%
Liquidity and in the event that the Company’s Liquidity nears 7.5%, the Company will stop lending in order to
increase its liquidity level. The experience of the Company has been that 7.5% liquidity is sufficient to cover the
ongoing cash needs of the Company without relying on any increase in the level of Notes on issue.
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At the 31 October 2018 the Company was experiencing a 98.88% rollover of maturing Notes. The rollover of
maturing Notes at the same time last year was 92.95%.
The Company reviews cash flows on a 3 monthly basis and monitors its financial resources (new Note holders,
loan repayments and loan advances) on a day to day basis to ensure compliance with its minimum liquidity policy
of 7.5%.
If the Company experiences a 20% decrease in retaining 31 Day Notice funds compared to the previous three
months (or the percentage of maturing Notes being rolled over in the next three months was 20% less than
the percentage rolled over in the previous three months) the Company would have sufficient cash levels to meet
its projected cash needs.
Benchmark 3: Rollovers
Webster Dolilta Finance Limited complies with ASIC’s benchmark with regards to Rollovers
ASIC’s benchmark is that issuers shall clearly disclose their approach to rollovers including:
a)
b)

what process is followed at the end of the investment term; and
how they inform those rolling over or making further investments of any current Prospectus and
continuous disclosure documents.

The Company’s position with regards to rollovers is that 10 days prior to the maturity date of an investment, the
Company will notify the Note holder, in writing, of the interest rates and terms upon which funds may be
reinvested for a further period.
If written instructions are not received for a renewal or withdrawal of Notes by the Company, the Notes shall,
upon maturity, be re-invested for the same term at the current rate of interest payable at the time applicable to
that term.
The Company has maintained the same policy and procedure with regards to rollovers since October 1999.
When an investment is rolled over the Company advises clients by a notation on the renewal notice that the
current Prospectus and any continuous disclosure announcements are available on request or accessible on
the Company’s website www.wdfinance.com.au.
The Company’s current Prospectus document, together with any relevant ongoing disclosure documents, will be
available from the Company website www.wdfinance.com.au. Investors who do not have access to the website
may request a hard copy of these documents, free of charge, by contacting the Company directly.
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Benchmark 4: Debt Maturity
Webster Dolilta Finance Limited complies with ASIC’s benchmark with regards to Debt Maturity
ASIC’s benchmark is that all issuers should disclose:
a) an analysis of the maturity profile of interest bearing liabilities (including notes on issue) by term and
value; and
b) the interest rates, or average interest rates, applicable to their debts.

31 Day Notice Investment Notes
"Fixed Term" Investment Notes due before 31 January 2019
"Fixed Term" Investment Notes due between 1 February 2019 and 31 October
2019
"Fixed Term" Investment Notes due after 1 November 2019

$
6,492,753
17,236,60
3
43,748,17
7
13,823,73
4

%
9.33%
30.21%
46.19%
14.27%

As at the 31 October 2018 the total value of the Company’s interest-bearing liabilities was $81,301,562. This
amount will change over time. The above table represents the maturity profile of these interest-bearing liabilities
by term and value. These figures will change over time.
The average interest rate applicable to the above interest-bearing liabilities as at the 31 October 2018 is 4.04%.
This rate will change over time. 31 Day Notice investments have a variable interest rate.
Benchmark 5: Loan portfolio
Webster Dolilta Finance Limited complies with ASIC’s benchmark with regards to Loan portfolio diversification
and security.
ASIC’s benchmark is that issuers who directly on-lend funds, or indirectly on-lend funds through a related party,
should disclose the current nature of their (or the related party’s) loan portfolio, including:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)

how many loans they have and the value of those loans;
an analysis of the maturity profile of interest bearing assets (including loan portfolio) by term and value;
the interest rates, or average interest rates, applicable to the assets;
by number and value, the loans they have by class of activity and geographic region;
an analysis (number of loans, value of loans, value of principal and/or interest) of those loans more
than 30 days past due and renegotiated loans;
by number and value, what portion of the total loan money is lent on a “secured basis” and what is the
nature of the security;
by number and value, what portion of the total loan money they have lent to their largest borrower and
their ten largest borrowers; and
by number, value and percentage, what loans are subject to legal proceedings.

Explanation – Is the issuer’s loan portfolio heavily concentrated into a small number of loans, or loans to a small
number of borrowers? If so, there is a higher risk that a single negative event affecting one loan will put the
overall portfolio (and investors’ money) at risk.
The more diversified a loan portfolio is, the lower the risk that an adverse event affecting one borrower or one
type of loan will simultaneously affect the majority of borrowers.
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Our loan portfolio includes:
a)

As at 30 June 2018 the loan portfolio contained 189 loans totalling $56,910,871. (At 31 October
2018 the loan portfolio contained 182 loans totalling $60,895,640)

b)

Our mortgage documents provide for our loans to be called up on 30 days’ notice. Historically many
of our loans were written as residential loans and therefore have terms ranging from 10 to 25
years. In the past five years most of our loans have been written with renewable maturity dates
between 12 and 24 months.

c)

The interest rate charged on loans as at 30 June 2018 range from 5.75% to 24.00%

d)

Mortgage Loans by purpose as at 30 June 2018, refer also to graph on page 45.

Loan Purpose

Total amount of loans advanced

Number of
Loans

33,908,709

117

9,394,145

23

953,117

6

7,602,959

8

609,472

1

4,330,428

17

112,042

17

Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Property Development
Hotel
Rural
Other

Under the Trust Deed the Company is permitted to make unsecured loans of not more than $5,000 per loan as
long as all unsecured loans do not exceed 5% of the total loan portfolio of the Company.
All loans other than 74 which total $24,057,661 have securities located within Ballarat & surrounding areas.
Refer to table below & graph on page 45.

Security Location
Ballarat & District

Total amount of loans advanced
32,853,211

Number of Loans
115

Regional Victoria

12,502,845

37

Melbourne

9,552,146

13

TAS

27,008

1

NSW

1,539,760

3

QLD

323,860

3

Other (Funds held/Unsecured)

112,042

17

56,910,871

189

e)

As at 30 June 2018 there were 4 loans in arrears. The total sum of loans more than 30 days in
arrears was $583,477 which represents 2.12% of the total number of loans on the company books
and 1.03% of the total amount of all loans in dollar value. (As at 31 October 2018 there were 5
loans in arrears. The total sum of loans more than 30 days in arrears was $1,674,873 which
represents 2.75% of the total number of loans on the company books and 2.75% of the total
amount of all loans in dollar value.)
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f)

g)
h)

As at 30 June 2018, the Company had 172 loans that total $56,798,830 which were secured by
first mortgage over real estate which represents 99.80% of the total loans by value and 91.01% by
number. The nature of the properties over which security is held is detailed above in section d). (As
at 31 October 2018, the Company had 167 loans that total $60,790,395 which were secured by
first mortgage over real estate which represents 99.83% of the total loans by value and 91.76% by
number.
As at the 31 October 2018 the 10 largest loans total $20,559,349 equal to 33.76% of total loans.
As at the date of this prospectus there is one loan that is subject to legal proceedings, the loan has
a balance of $71,662 which is secured by first mortgage over residential land and a hotel. The
value of the security is $274,500 and has a loan to valuation ratio of 26.10%. The Company as at
the date of this prospectus is yet to take possession. No loss is anticipated on this loan.

Loans in default but not subject to legal proceedings
There are three loans where the Company believes that further disclosure may be appropriate. These loans
are not subject to legal proceedings and are not included in the loans referred to above in benchmark 5 e)
(loans more than 30 days past due). The principal amount of these three loans as at 31 October 2018 was
$7,234,726 which represents 11.88% of total loans by value. The Directors estimate that the loss to the
Company on these loans is likely to be $760,087 and a provision as at 30 June 2018 has been made in the
Company’s balance sheet accordingly.
Loan 1 is a group of 4 loans written over a period of 10 years that consists of funds for residential
construction, residential development, development of land and working capital all within the Ballarat and
District region. These loans now have a total balance of $5,653,478 which is secured by first mortgage over
residential land, residential property, commercial property and subdividable land. The loan is considered to be
a development loan. The valuation of the security on an ‘as is’ basis is $6,487,500 and on an ‘on completion’
basis is $9,382,500. Interest is no longer being accrued on this loan. The loan involves a local land
subdivision which the owner is managing and the Company and the second lender is overseeing. The
development of the last stage of 22 lots and 1 super lot will commence early 2019.
Loan 2 has a balance of $276,106 which is secured by first mortgage over vacant farming land valued at
$200,000. The directors anticipate a loss on this loan and have made a provision for $76,628. Interest is no
longer being accrued on this loan. The property is to be purchased by the Company and held as an asset with
the borrowers consent.
Loan 3 has a balance of $1,305,143 which is secured by a first mortgage over a residential property of
$340,000 and a second mortgage to the value of $320,000 over commercial properties. The Directors
anticipate a possible loss on this loan and have made a provision for $683,459. Interest is no longer being
accrued on this loan.
Other notable loans
The Company has 4 loans on its books that fund the purchase of land holdings where the intention of the
borrower is to develop the land in future. The Company has no intention to fund the future development indeed
these loans are usually paid out by way of refinance. The exit strategy is always a consideration when assessing
these types of loans, we look at the size of the development, the initial loan to valuation levels, the financial
strength of the borrower, the process and time required to complete the permit application, the location of the
property and the saleability of the property both at the time the loan is made and at the time the loan will mature.
More importantly we review the borrower’s experience and history in this type of development. The Company
does not consider these loans to be development or construction loans. These loans are not the loans referred
to in Benchmark 1.
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Loans in arrears
As disclosed in (e) above, at 31 October 2018 there were 5 loans in arears that represents 2.75% of the total
number of loans on the Company's books and 2.75% of the total amount of all loans in dollar value.
In some circumstances there can be delays acting on non-performing loans which could have an adverse impact
on recovering money owed to the Company. However the Company makes decisions in light of current
circumstances as to what action is required to achieve the best outcome for the Company, sometimes the best
action is to work with the borrowers and not take legal action to recover outstanding debts.
The Directors of Webster Dolilta Finance Limited believe that the diversification of the loan portfolio is important
to ensure that the Company does not have an excessive exposure to any particular sector of the property market.
Benchmark 6: Related party transactions
Webster Dolilta Finance Limited complies with ASIC’s benchmark with regards to Related party transactions
ASIC’s benchmark is that issuers who on-lend funds should disclose their approach to related party transactions,
including:
a)
b)
c)
d)

how many loans they have made to related parties;
the value of those loans;
the value of loans as a percentage of total assets; and
the assessment and approval process they follow with related party loans when loans are advanced,
varied or extended (e.g. are they subject to the approval of the Trustee?)

Explanation – the risk with related party transactions is that they might not be made with the same rigor and
independence as transactions made on an arm’s-length commercial basis.
At the 30 June 2018, the Company had 11 loans totalling $1,067593 to directors, key management personnel
and other related parties. These loans represent 5.82% of total loans by number and 1.88% of total loans by
value. Any such loans made by the Company to such persons or entities are made on ordinary arms-length terms
as to loan to valuation ratio and security. These loans are not subject to the Trustees approval. The Company’s
approach to lending and credit risk for loan applications is described in Section 6.7 of this prospectus and loans
to related parties are subject to the same approval process as other loans.
As at 31 October 2018 the Company had 10 loans totalling $1,039,501 to related parties. These loans represent
5.49% of total loans by number and 1.71% of total loans by value.
Benchmark 7: Valuations
Webster Dolilta Finance Limited does not comply with ASIC’s benchmark with regards to Valuations
ASIC's benchmark is that where issuers (directly or indirectly) on-lend money for property related transactions, it
should take the following approach to obtaining and relying upon valuations;

a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

properties (i.e. real estate) should be valued on an 'as is' and (for development property) 'as if complete'
basis;
development properties should be re-valued at least every 12 months unless the funds are retained by
the issuer and only released in stages to cover project completion costs;
issuers should have a clear policy on how often they obtain valuations including how recent a valuation
has to be when they make a new loan;
issuers should establish a panel of valuers and ensure that no single valuer conducts more than one
third of the valuations obtained; and
the appointment of valuers should be with the Trustee's consent.
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Issuers should also include information about the valuation of a particular property in the issuer's Prospectus
where:
the property accounts for 5% or more of the total value of property assets of the issuer;
the property accounts for 5% or more of the total value of property assets of a related party through
which the issuer has indirectly on-lent money;
a loan secured against the property accounts for 5% or more of the total value of the issuer’s loan book;
or
a loan secured against the property accounts for 5% or more of the total value of the loan book of a
related party through which the issuer has indirectly on-lent money.
Explanation – if the issuer does not include information about valuations in the Prospectus, it will be more
difficult for investors to assess how risky the investment is. Keeping valuations up-to-date and shared among a
panel means they are more likely to be accurate and independent.
The Company complies with (a), (b), (c) and (e) above but not (d).
If not, why not? Details of the current nature of the Company’s loan portfolio, together with the lending policies
the Company has adopted to manage and control risk are contained in Section 6.7 'Security and Risk
Assessment' of this Prospectus.
The current Trust Deed requirements allows for the Company to rely on a valuation from an 'approved valuer'
which means an independent and duly qualified valuer which the Trustee has consented to the appointment of,
or a valuer-general or corresponding official authorised by a relevant State or Territory (this includes a municipal
valuer) when approving mortgage finance.
The Company has a policy that as every loan approval is different, a decision is made in relation to each loan
and its valuation requirements at the approval stage.
When approving a mortgage loan the Company reserves the right to obtain on any future dates an up to date
valuation of the property or properties offered as security at the borrower's expense. The Company may exercise
this option at its discretion during the term of a loan.
The Company has established a panel of valuers, however, the Company will generally instruct a valuer local to
the area in which the secured property is located, thus utilising the valuer's local knowledge expertise.
Accordingly, as Webster Dolilta Finance Limited lends predominantly in the Ballarat & district and with limited
local valuers available, it is likely that more than one third of the property valuations will be conducted by the
one valuer.
As at 30 June 2018 the Company has investment property assets that account for more than 5% of the total
value of property assets, these are disclosed in notes 8 and 9 of the financial information on page 35.
Investment Property totalling $4,027,129 comprises of the following properties:
Current
Property 1
$956,205
Based on an independent valuation of the investment property was carried out by Darren Evans (AAPI Certified
Practising Valuer) on 30 June 2017. Valuation based on the assessment of the asset's ‘as is’ current market
value.
Property 2
$400,924
The investment property is on the market for sale with 2 allotments remaining on hand at 30 June 2018. The
remaining allotments have been valued by the Directors at fair value based on the amount paid for the property
and development and building costs incurred since 18 May 2015.
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Non-current
Property 3
$475,000
Based on an independent valuation of the investment property carried out by Anthony J. Carter (AAPI Certified
Practising Valuer) on 27 July 2016. Valuation based on the assessment of the asset's current market value.

Property 4
$480,000
Based on an independent valuation of the investment property carried out by Chris Torpy (AAPI Certified
Practising Valuer) on 6 June 2017. Valuation based on the assessment of the asset's current market value.
Property 5
$650,000
Based on an independent valuation carried out by Chris Bradshaw (AAPI Certified Practising Valuer) on 15 June
2017. Valuation based on the assessment of the asset's current market value.
Property 6
$1,065,000
Based on an independent valuation carried out by Darren Evans (AAPI Certified Practising Valuer) on 14 June
2018. Valuation based on the assessment of the asset's current market value together with development costs.
Information about the valuations of these properties is also set out in note 8 of the financial information in
Section 7.
Benchmark 8: Lending principles—loan-to-valuation ratios
Webster Dolilta Finance Limited complies with ASIC’s benchmark with regards to lending principles - loan to
valuation ratios.
ASIC’s benchmark is that where an issuer (directly or in-directly) on-lends money in relation to property-related
activities, it should maintain the following maximum loan-to-valuation ratios:
a)
b)

where the loan relates to property development - 70% on the basis of the latest complying valuation;
and
in all other cases - 80% on the basis of the latest complying valuation.

Where the loan relates to property development by a second person (even if related to the issuer), the issuer
should ensure that funds raised by the issue of notes are only provided to the developer in stages, based on
external evidence of the progress of the development.
Explanation – a high loan-to-valuation ratio means that the investment is more vulnerable to changing market
conditions, such as a downturn in the property market. Therefore, the risk of investors losing their money could
be higher.
Loans made by the Company (other than those made for property development) are made at a loan to valuation
ratio of no greater than 80%. A loan to valuation ratio is defined as the % of loan in relation to the value of the
property. i.e. loan is for $80,000 and the value of the property is $100,000, then the LVR is 80%.
All lending for property development is made on a progressive value basis with valuations or quantity surveyor
reports obtained at various stages of the development and do not exceed 70% of the “as if complete” valuation
at the time of approval.
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6. DETAILS OF THE ISSUE
This Prospectus is an important document and should be read in its entirety. Before deciding to invest, you
should consider whether Notes are a suitable investment for you.
Notes are documents that the Company issues to acknowledge its indebtedness to investors in respect of money
that is deposited with or lent to the Company.
The Prospectus offers to the public for subscription Notes of $1.00 each for terms varying from 31 Days Notice
to 36 months at rates of interest detailed in the current Application Form accompanying the Prospectus. There
is no minimum amount to be raised by this Prospectus as the Company already has significant funds invested
in mortgage loans and all funds raised under this Prospectus will be applied to expand the Company’s business.
Subscriptions for Notes may only proceed on the Application Form accompanying this Prospectus. No Notes will
be allotted or issued on the basis of this Prospectus after the expiry date specified on page 1.
Further copies of this Prospectus are available from the registered office of the Company at 44 Armstrong Street
South, Ballarat or telephone (03) 5337 0088 (any of the Company offices) or on the Company’s Web Site at
www.wdfinance.com.au.
6.1 PURPOSE OF THIS PROSPECTUS
The Company seeks to raise further funds under this Prospectus by offering and inviting subscriptions for Notes
issued by the Company. The funds raised will be used to expand the Company’s principal activity of lending
money on the security of registered mortgages over titles to real property in the State of Victoria and investment
in other investments permitted by the Trust Deed.
Money received by the Company in respect of issued Notes is invested in accordance with a trust deed dated
17th December 1999.The parties to that Trust Deed are now the Company and Melbourne Securities
Corporation Limited (the “Trustee”) as trustee for the Note holders, (the Trust Deed).
The Trust Deed provides that the permitted investments for funds deposited with the Company depend on the
level of the Company’s assets and liabilities.
The permitted investments are not restricted under the Trust Deed, if at the time an investment of money
deposited with the Company in respect of W&D Secured Notes is proposed to be made, the level of the
Company’s secured and unsecured liabilities does not exceed 93% of its total tangible assets calculated in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
At any time when this capital adequacy ratio is exceeded, the Company may invest money deposited with the
Company in respect of issued W&D Secured Notes in a limited range of authorised investments (these are
described in section 8.1). The Company can retain any investment it has made or renewed at a time when it
satisfies the capital adequacy ratio even though the capital adequacy ratio may subsequently be exceeded and
the investment is not an authorised investment as described in section 8.1.
As at 31 October 2018, the level of the Company's secured and unsecured liabilities did not exceed 93% of its
total tangible assets, and thus is not restricted by the Trust Deed to only investing money in the limited range of
authorised investments.
Joint first mortgages are permitted to be made by the Company with other persons if the Company first notifies
the Trustee in writing and where each party’s interest as first mortgagee is as a tenant in common and if the
borrower defaults any party may exercise the power of sale conferred by the mortgage on behalf of all the parties.
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The Company must be named as mortgagee in any mortgage or joint mortgage.
The Company may also invest in contributory mortgages through a solicitor’s nominee company or the
responsible entity of a managed investment scheme under the Corporations Act.
Irrespective of whether the Company’s investment ability is limited to investment in a range of authorised
investments or is unrestricted, the Company will continue to maintain its principal business of the provision of
finance to the public on the security of registered mortgages over real property.
6.2 HOW TO INVEST
To invest in Notes you must complete the Application Form accompanying this Prospectus and lodge it with your
cheque at, or forward by mail to, the registered office of the Company. Instructions may be found on the
Application Form.
Allotment of Notes will be acknowledged by the Company forwarding a “Note Certificate” within 60 days of the
receipt of the subscription money.
6.3 PAYMENT OF INTEREST
The Company issues Notes with varying investment periods and interest rates. Notes for a fixed term provide a
fixed rate of interest for the period of the investment. The Company also offers 31 Day Notice accounts which
have a variable interest rate and may vary from time to time.
Current interest rates and investment periods for Notes are set out on the Application Form accompanying this
Prospectus. Applicants are advised to confirm the interest rate and the investment period with the Company
prior to completing the Application Form to ensure that the Application Form is current.
Interest is calculated and accrues on Notes daily from the date of receipt by the Company of your application
money. Interest earned on 31 Day Notice Notes” is payable on 15 May and 15 November in each year or on
redemption, and will be paid by cheque or reinvested (so that interest is capitalised), or in accordance with your
prior instructions. Interest on 3 month Notes will be paid on maturity. For all other Notes interest is credited and
paid either monthly, quarterly, six monthly or on maturity depending upon your instructions set out on the
application form. Quarterly interest can be either paid to you or reinvested. Please indicate your repayment
instructions on the Application Form. Interest will be automatically re-invested if no election is made.
Upon redemption, interest accrued will be paid to you either electronically or by cheque together with your
principal. Where a maturing investment is reinvested for a further term, interest will be paid to you or reinvested
as you request.
Your instructions as to whether quarterly interest is to be paid to you or reinvested may be varied by you at any
time.
All interest payable on W&D Secured Notes is secured under the Trust Deed. For further details refer to Section
8.1.
6.4 VARIATION OF INTEREST RATES AND MATURITY DATES OFFERED
The interest rates and investment terms offered are subject to change from time to time. However, a variation
in interest rate or term does not affect Notes for a fixed period already on issue.

Australian Financial Services Licence No: 234971

23

Where an Application Form is received by the Company on or after the date of variation in interest rates or
investment terms for Notes, and the rate or terms specified in the Application Form differ from the rate or term
applicable when the Application Form is received, the Company will, at its option either:
(a) promptly advise the applicant and return the application money to the applicant within 14 days if so
requested; or
(b) issue a “Note Certificate” to the applicant for the term specified in the Application Form at the rate which
currently applies to an investment for the term and:
(i) notify the applicant that the Notes will be redeemed if the applicant gives written notice to the
Company requiring it to redeem the Notes issued within 14 days after the applicant receives the
notification; and
(ii) On receiving written notice requiring the Notes to be redeemed and the “Note Certificate”, the
Company will redeem the Notes and pay to the applicant an amount equal to the application money
received and interest at the rate applicable to the Notes calculated from the date on which the
application money was received to the date on which the redemption money is sent.

6.5 REPAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST
Notes for a fixed term will be repaid in full on maturity, together with interest accrued, upon receipt of a written
signed withdrawal or redemption request from a Note holder and the surrender to the Company of the relevant
Note Certificate. Prior to the maturity date of an investment, the Company will notify the Note holder, in writing,
of the interest rates and terms upon which funds may be reinvested for a further period.
31 Day Notice Notes will be partially repaid or repaid in full with interest accrued, upon the Company receiving
a minimum of 31 days notice of withdrawal. This should be provided in the form of a signed withdrawal or
redemption request in writing from a Note holder and surrender of the relevant Note Certificate.
If written instructions are not received for a renewal or withdrawal of a Note by the Company, the Note shall,
upon maturity, be re-invested for a similar term at the current rate of interest payable at the time applicable to
that term.
Payments are forwarded to the address of the Note holder in the Company Register. For joint Note holders,
payment is forwarded to the address of the first named holder unless the Company is otherwise instructed in
writing in accordance with the authority to operate the account.
The Company reserves the right to redeem early any Notes by giving 30 days written notice to the Note holder
and redemption may be with or without a premium.
6.6 WITHDRAWAL BEFORE MATURITY
The Company will consider requests by Note holders who, through unforeseen and exceptional circumstances
or hardship, wish to withdraw the whole or part of an investment before maturity.
In the event of death of a sole Note holder, the Company will pay to the Note holder’s legal personal
representative the whole or any part of the amount invested, subject to any legal requirements or transfer the
funds to a beneficiary entitled to the funds as instructed by the legal personal representative. In the event of
death of a joint Note holder, the interest of the deceased joint Note holder will revert to the surviving joint Note
holder.
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Early repayment is at the absolute discretion of the Company and may be subject to an adjustment of the rate
of interest having regard to the period for which the Company held the amount to be repaid.
All withdrawal requests are to be made on a Company withdrawal form and signed by the Note holder (or legal
personal representative where applicable).
6.7 SECURITY AND RISK ASSESSMENT
Repayment of all monies that have been or may be invested with the Company is secured by a floating charge
over the assets of the Company in favour of Melbourne Securities Corporation Limited as trustee for the holders
of W&D Secured Notes. Melbourne Securities Corporation Limited has registered a first-ranking security interest
on the Personal Property Securities Register for all of the Company's present and after-acquired property.
The property that constitutes the security for the security interest is sufficient and is reasonably likely to be
sufficient to meet the liability for the repayment of all such money and all other liabilities ranking equally with or
in priority to, that liability that have been or may be incurred.
Neither the Trustee (Melbourne Securities Corporation Limited), its associates or related companies nor any of
their respective officers, employees or agents nor the Directors or other officers or employees of the Company
guarantee the obligations of the Company. The Trustee will exercise reasonable diligence to ascertain from the
Directors’ Certificate, Directors’ Report or accounts made available to it under the Trust Deed, whether or not
the Company or any guarantor has committed any breach of any obligations or provisions relating to any Security
Stock contained or imposed by the Trust Deed (further details are contained in section 8.1 of this Prospectus).
The risk to you of any loss of capital or interest depends on the financial performance of the Company.
The financial performance of the Company will be affected by many factors including fluctuations in market
interest rates and the composition of the Company’s mortgage portfolio. Market interest rates and fluctuations
in the Company’s mortgage portfolio may be influenced by government policies and general economic
conditions. The investments of the Company are mostly first registered mortgages with variable interest rates,
and the investment performance and the prospects of the Company will be dependent on, amongst other things,
prevailing mortgage interest rates and the interest rates applicable to the Company’s mortgage portfolio.
Risk Management
The Company has established and put in place a fully operational risk management system plan that is generally
consistent with the Australian Standard for Compliance Program – AS 4360-1999 and meets the requirements
of its AFSL. The Company has appointed a Compliance Manager, who reports to the Board, to manage and
maintain the risk management system. This process provides a structured approach to ensure strategies are in
place to meet the Company’s obligations under the Corporations Act, its AFSL as well as other core risks including
financial, human resource, technology, internal and external business and economic risks which impact on the
Company’s operations.
6.8 FEES AND BROKERAGE
No entry or exit fees apply to an investment in Notes pursuant to this Prospectus
The Company reserves the right to charge a monthly administration fee on Investment accounts with balances
of $1,000 or less.
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The Company may pay brokerage or trail commission calculated on the amount subscribed at the
undermentioned rates to licensed investment advisers and securities industry dealers on applications which are
lodged by them and accepted by the Company.
The current rate for brokerage is up to 0.40% of the amount subscribed. The current rate for trail commission
is up to 0.50% per annum of the amount subscribed while the Notes remain registered to the investor whose
subscription was procured by the investment adviser or securities industry dealer. The current brokerage rates,
which vary according to the investment term of amounts subscribed, are set out below:

INVESTMENT TERM

BROKERAGE RATE
% of amount subscribed

2 years

up to 0.4%

1 year

up to 0.4%

6 months

up to 0.3%

3 months

up to 0.2%

31 Day Notice

NIL

NO BROKERAGE OR TRAIL COMMISSION
IS PAYABLE BY THE INVESTOR
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7. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RSM Australia Pty Ltd
12 Anderson Street West, Ballarat VIC 3350
PO Box 685 Ballarat VIC 3353
T +61 (0) 3 5330 5800
F +61 (0) 3 5330 5890
www.rsm.com.au

31 October 2018
The Directors
Webster Dolilta Finance Limited
44 Armstrong Street South
BALLARAT VIC 3350
Independent Limited Assurance Report on Webster Dolilta Finance Limited’s Compilation of Historical Financial
Information for inclusion in a Prospectus to be dated on or around 31 October 2018 by Webster Dolilta Finance
Limited
Dear Directors,
We have completed our limited assurance engagement to report on Webster Dolilta Finance Limited’s
compilation of historical financial information for inclusion in a Prospectus to be dated on or about 31 October
2018 to be issued by Webster Dolilta Finance Limited.
The historical financial information has been extracted from the audited financial statements of the Company
from 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2018 where RSM Australia has been the auditor for this period. The historical
financial information consists of the historical performance of the company for the four years ended 30 June
2018, historical statement of financial position and historical statement of cash flows for the four years ended
30 June 2018 and related notes for the year ended 30 June 2018 as determined necessary by the directors as
set out in sections 7.1, 7.2, 7.3 and 7.4 respectively of the Prospectus issued by the company (collectively “WDF
Prospectus Report”).
The applicable criteria as specified in section 4.5 of the Prospectus on which the directors have compiled the
historical financial information extracted from the audited financial statements of the Company from 1 July 2014
to 30 June 2018 for inclusion in the prospectus are as follows;
▪
▪
▪
▪

the historical performance of the company for the four years ended 30 June 2018 (section 7.1);
historical statement of financial position as at 30 June 2017 and 2018 (section 7.2);
historical statement of cash flows for the four years ended 30 June 2018 (section 7.3); and
related notes for the year ended 30 June 2018 as determined necessary by directors (section 7.4).

for inclusion in Prospectus to be dated on or about 31 October 2018 relating to the issue of Secured Notes in
Webster Dolilta Finance Limited.
The Directors of the Company have no reason to believe that there is any inaccuracy in the financial statements
and notes that follow this Independent Limited Assurance Report.
The historical financial information has been compiled by the directors to summarise the Company’s past
financial position and performance. As part of this process, information about the company’s financial position
and financial performance has been extracted by the directors from the company’s audited financial statements
for the periods ended 30 June 2015 to 30 June 2018, on which audit reports have been published. A full set of
the Company’s audited financial statements are accessible from www.wdfinance.com.au.
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Director’s Responsibilities for the Historical Financial Information
The directors of Webster Dolilta Finance Limited are responsible for properly compiling the historical financial
information on the basis of the applicable criteria.
Our Independence and Quality Control
We have complied with relevant ethical requirements related to assurance engagements which are founded on
fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and
professional behaviour.
The firm applies Australian Standard on Quality Control 1 and accordingly maintains a comprehensive system of
quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with relevant ethical
requirements and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
Our Responsibilities
Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on whether anything has come to our attention that the historical
financial information contained in the WDF Prospectus Report has not been properly compiled, in all material
respects, by the directors on the basis of the applicable criteria, as specified in section 4.5 of the Prospectus.
We have conducted our limited assurance engagement in accordance with the Standard on Assurance
Engagements ASA 810 Engagements to Report on Summary Financial Statements (ASA 810), issued by the
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. This standard requires that the assurance practitioner plan and
perform procedures to obtain limited assurance about whether anything has come the assurance practitioner’s
attention that causes the assurance practitioner to believe that the directors has not compiled, in all material
respects, the historical financial information on the basis of the as specified in section 4.5 of the Prospectus.
For purposes of this engagement, we are not responsible for updating or reissuing any reports or opinions on
any historical financial information used in compiling the historical financial information, nor have we, in the
course of this engagement, performed an audit or review of the financial information used in compiling the
historical financial information, or of the historical financial information itself.
The purpose of the compilation of the historical financial information being included in a Prospectus to be issued
by the Directors of Webster Dolilta Finance Limited is solely to summarise the Company’s past financial position
and performance for inclusion in Prospectus to be dated on or about 31 October 2018 relating to the issue of
Secured Notes in Webster Dolilta Finance Limited.
A limited assurance engagement to report on whether anything has come to our attention that the historical
financial information has not been properly compiled, in all material respects, on the basis of the applicable
criteria.
The procedures we performed were based on our professional judgement and included making enquiries,
primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, observation of processes performed,
inspection of documents, analytical procedures, evaluating the appropriateness of supporting documentation
and agreeing or reconciling with underlying records, and other procedures. The procedures performed in a
limited assurance engagement vary in nature from, and are less in extent than for, a reasonable assurance
engagement. As a result, the level of assurance obtained in a limited assurance engagement is substantially
lower than the assurance that would have been obtained had we performed a reasonable assurance
engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a reasonable assurance opinion about whether the compilation of
the historical financial information has been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the applicable
criteria.
The engagement also involves evaluating the overall presentation of the historical financial information.
We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our conclusion.
Limited Assurance Conclusion
Based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained, nothing has come to our
attention that causes us to believe that the historical financial information is not compiled, in all material
respects, by the directors of Webster Dolilta Finance Limited on the basis of the applicable criteria as specified
in section 4.5 of the Prospectus.
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Consent
RSM Australia Pty Ltd has consented to the inclusion of this report in the Prospectus to be issued by the Directors
of Webster and Dolilta Finance Limited on or around 31 October 2018 in the form and context in which it is
included.
Declaration of Interest
RSM Australia Pty Ltd does not have any interest in the outcome of this Prospectus other than in providing this
independent limited assurance report for which normal professional fees will be received. For the sake of
transparency, RSM Australia Partners are the external auditors of Webster Dolilta Finance Limited. These
consents had not been withdrawn prior to the lodgement of this prospectus with the Australian Securities and
Investments Commission.
Yours faithfully
RSM AUSTRALIA PTY LTD

JOHN FINDLAY
Director
Dated this 31st day of October 2018
Ballarat, Victoria
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7.1

HISTORICAL PERFORMANCE OF THE COMPANY

The audited statement of profit loss and other comprehensive income of the Company for the years ended 30
June 2018, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are set out below:

Interest received
Interest expense
Net interest revenue
Non-interest revenue
Total operating income
Bad and doubtful debts
Operating expenses
Operating profit/(loss)
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of investment property
Net gain on revaluation of investment property
Net profit/(loss) before tax
Income tax (expense)/benefit
Net profit/(loss) after tax

2018
$
4,707,428
(2,972,972)

2017
$
4,904,702
(2,922,523)

2016
$
5,613,399
(3,661,322)

2015
$
6,692,098
(4,263,944)

1,734,456
608,327

1,982,179
608,320

1,952,077
490,894

2,428,154
393,868

2,342,783
(161,846)
(1,574,792)

2,590,499
(1,160,149)
(2,098,051)

2,442,971
(1,366,177)
(1,561,782)

2,822,022
(678,024)
(1,506,706)

606,145
172,900
83,717

(667,701)
450,385
278,169

(484,988)
2,067
414,676

637,292
(10,421)
258,832

862,762
(225,270)

60,853
(65,760)

(68,245)
26,833

885,703
(263,274)

637,492

(4,907)

(41,412)

622,429

-

47,351

239,821

-

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Net gain on revaluation of land and buildings, net of
tax
Net (loss)/gain on revaluation of financial
investments, net of tax
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

(31,038)

66,979

(57,687)

(806)

(31,038)

114,330

182,134

(806)

Total comprehensive income for the year

606,454

109,423

140,722

621,623

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Members of the parent entity

637,492

(4,907)

(41,412)

622,429

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Members of the parent entity

606,454

109,423

140,722

621,623
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7.2 HISTORICAL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
The audited statement of financial position of the Company as at 30 June 2018 is set out below:
Note

2018
$

2017
$

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10(a)
11

3,735,529
16,789,000
666,273
977,799
5,000
56,150,784
4,027,129
3,014,377
916,562
244,473

2,928,098
13,914,000
152,580
769,646
5,000
57,757,302
4,241,043
3,064,469
1,122,476
244,473

86,526,926

84,199,087

77,248,423
955,047
1,060,017
139,932

75,370,273
813,367
1,052,433
127,396

TOTAL LIABILITIES

79,403,419

77,363,469

NET ASSETS

7,123,507

6,835,618

2,710,712
9,937
1,118,137
3,284,721

2,710,712
40,975
1,118,137
2,965,794

7,123,507

6,835,618

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Due from other financial institutions
Receivables
Assets held in listed entities
Shares in unlisted companies at cost
Loans and advances
Investment property
Property, plant and equipment
Tax assets
Intangible assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Secured notes
Payables
Tax liabilities
Provisions

12
13
10(b)
14

EQUITY
Issued capital
Financial investment revaluation reserve
Property revaluation reserve
Retained earnings

15

TOTAL EQUITY
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7.3 HISTORICAL STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
The audited statement of cash flows of the Company for the years ended 30 June 2018, 2017, 2016 and
2015 are set out below:
Note
Cash from operating activities:
Interest received
Interest and other costs of finance paid
Fees, commissions and other income
received
Rent received
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Income taxes received
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Payments for other investments
Proceeds from the redemption of
investments
Net decrease/(increase) in loans and
advances
Proceeds from investment properties
Payments for investment property
Net cash provided/(used by) by investing
activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net increase/(decrease) in secured notes
Dividends paid
Net cash provided by/(used by) financing
activities
Net cash increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

2(b)

2018
$

2017
$

2016
$

2015
$

4,688,529
(2,899,635)

4,935,917
(3,143,525)

5,598,269
(3,778,049)

6,712,825
(4,349,818)

451,112

475,016

387,837

266,807

157,215
(1,447,130)
-

133,304
(2,051,783)
274,032

140,477
(1,302,748)
(443,697)

127,061
(1,621,415)
(601,774)

950,091

622,961

602,089

533,686

(250,964)

(17,396)
(100,124)

(75,872)
(323,493)

(16,391)
(207,130)

150,000

-

50,000

-

1,427,576

(9,759,394)

8,875,580

8,145,462

1,193,614
(1,197,471)

2,577,778
(358,240)

418,726
(1,952,829)

900,625
(1,438,085)

1,322,755

(7,657,376)

6,992,112

7,384,481

1,878,150
(318,565)

(6,036,823)
(285,610)

(5,332,933)
(285,611)

(1,254,417)
(263,640)

1,559,585

(6,322,433)

(5,618,544)

(1,518,057)

3,832,431

(13,356,848)

1,975,657

6,400,110

16,692,098

30,048,946

28,073,289

21,673,179

20,524,529

16,692,098

30,048,946

28,073,289
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7.4 NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE ACCOUNTS FOR TWELVE MONTH PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2018
Note
2
(a)

(b)

3

4

5

6

Cash and cash equivalents
Current
Cash at bank and on hand
Cash on hand
Cash at bank

2018
$

2017
$

7,638
3,727,891

6,942
2,921,156

3,735,529

2,928,098

Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to items in the statement
of financial position as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
2(a)
3,735,529
2,928,098
Interest earnings deposits
3
16,789,000
13,764,000
20,524,529

16,692,098

16,789,000
-

13,764,000
150,000

16,789,000

13,914,000

1,200
58,123
36,088
32,238
33,494
505,130

1,200
39,223
40,682
71,475

666,273

152,580

Assets held in listed entities – available for sale
Non-current
Shares in listed companies

977,799

769,646

Other financial investments – available for sale
Non-current
Shares in unlisted companies at cost

5,000

5,000

Due from other financial institutions
Held to maturity - Interest earning deposits
Not longer than three months
Longer than three and not longer than twelve months

Receivables
Current
Rental bonds
Interest receivable – liquid reserves
Prepayments
Property sale debtors
Refundable development bonds
Recoverable development costs
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Note
7

Loans and advances
Loans – secured by mortgage
Loans – mortgage in possession
Loans – other(i)
7(a)
Less provision for impairment

(i)

2018
$

2017
$

55,325,392
1,585,479

56,507,937
751,090
1,849,620

56,910,871
(760,087)

59,108,647
(1,351,345)

56,150,784

57,757,302

The company holds security in respect of two loans that are in default totalling $1,585,479. The Directors
have either sold the properties previously held as mortgagee in possession or the Directors have no current
intention to exercise the right to hold the properties as mortgagee in possession. The properties and other
security held for the two loans are recorded based on the assessment of their current market value.

The market value of the properties held as security for the two loans has been determined as follows:
The valuation of property totalling $200,000 in respect of one loan was adopted by the Directors effective
to 30 June 2018 based on an independent valuation dated 31 July 2018. The difference of $76,628
between the balance of the loan and the valuation of the property held as security for the loan is included in
the provision for impairment.
The valuation of one property totalling $310,000 in respect of one loan was adopted by the Directors on 30
June 2017 based on an independent valuation dated 10 August 2017. The valuation of one property
totalling $315,392 in respect of the same loan has been adopted based on an assessment of the security
by the Directors. The difference of $683,459 between the loan balance and the valuation of the properties
is included in the provision for impairment.
(a)

8

Maturity analysis
Due within 1 year
Due after 1 year and not later than 2 years
Due after 2 years and not later than 5 years
Due after 5 years and not later than 30 years

33,455,855
12,192,825
6,790,977
4,471,214

34,300,417
13,741,194
7,302,612
3,764,424

56,910,871

59,108,647

Investment property
Current
At valuation(i)

1,357,129

1,701,043

Non-current
At valuation(ii)

2,670,000

2,540,000

4,027,129

4,241,043

The Directors value investment properties annually based on periodic, but ordinarily triennial, independent
valuations by an appropriately qualified property valuer. The fair value model is applied to all investment properties
held by the Group.
(i) The current investment property comprises:
One property subdivision of 24 allotments held by the parent entity. The investment property is intended to
be on the market for sale during the 2018/19 financial year. An independent valuation of the investment
property was carried out by Darren Evans (AAPI Certified Practising Valuer) on 30 June 2017.
One property subdivision of 35 allotments held by the parent entity. The investment property is on the
market for sale with 2 allotments remaining on hand at 30 June 2018. The remaining allotments have been
valued at fair value based on the amount paid for the property and development costs incurred since 18
May 2015.
The Directors have assessed that the carrying value at 30 June 2018 is not materially different to the fair value of
the investment property.
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(ii) The non-current investment property comprises:
One investment property held by the parent entity valued at fair value based on an independent valuation
of the investment property carried out by Anthony J. Carter (AAPI Certified Practising Valuer) on 27 July
2016.
One investment property held by the parent entity valued at fair value based on an independent valuation
of the investment property carried out by Darren Evans (AAPI Certified Practising Valuer) on 30 June 2017
together with development costs that have been paid for the development of the property subsequent to
that date.
One investment property held by the parent entity valued at fair value based on an independent valuation
of the investment property carried out by Chris Torpy (AAPI Certified Practising Valuer) on 6 June 2017.
One investment property held by the parent entity (previously held by the subsidiary of the parent entity)
valued at fair value based on an independent valuation carried out by Chris Bradshaw (AAPI Certified
Practising Valuer) on 15 June 2017.
One investment property held by the parent entity valued at fair value based on an independent valuation
carried out by Darren Evans (AAPI Certified Practising Valuer) on 14 June 2018 together with development
costs.
The Directors have assessed that the carrying value of each of the properties at 30 June 2018 are not materially
different to the fair value of the investment properties.

9

2018
$

2017
$

Property, plant and equipment
Non-current
LAND AND BUILDINGS
Freehold land
At valuation(i)

1,535,000

1,535,000

Total freehold land

1,535,000

1,535,000

Buildings
At valuation(i)
Less accumulated depreciation

1,532,396
(79,401)

1,532,396
(38,900)

Total buildings

1,452,995

1,493,496

Total land and buildings

2,987,995

3,028,496

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant and equipment
At cost
Less accumulated depreciation

88,753
(76,070)

88,753
(69,149)

Total plant and equipment

12,683

19,604

Motor vehicles
At cost
Less accumulated depreciation

21,359
(7,660)

55,525
(39,156)

Total motor vehicles

13,699

16,369

Total plant and equipment

26,382

35,973

Total property, plant and equipment

3,014,377

3,064,469

The fair value model is applied to all land and buildings held by the Group. Revaluations of land and buildings are
made in accordance with a policy of regular revaluation of land and buildings based on periodic, but ordinarily
triennial, independent valuations by an appropriately qualified property valuer.
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(i)

The revaluation of freehold land and buildings held by the parent entity was based on an independent
valuation carried out by Alan J. Hives (FAPI Certified Practising Valuer) on 9 August 2016. The Directors
have assessed that the carrying value at 30 June 2018 is not materially different to the fair value.

The revaluation of freehold land and buildings held by the subsidiary were based on an independent valuation
carried out by Alan J. Hives (FAPI Certified Practising Valuer) on 9 August 2016. The Directors have assessed that the
carrying value at 30 June 2018 is not materially different to the fair value.

10
(a)

(b)

11

12

(a)

13

14

15

Tax
Assets
Non-current
Deferred tax assets comprise:
Expenses not tax deductible until paid
Provisions not tax deductible until written off or paid
Tax losses available for set off against future taxable income

2018
$

2017
$

16,430
247,505
652,627

14,858
406,654
700,964

916,562

1,122,476

Liabilities
Non-current
Deferred tax liability from asset revaluation

1,060,017

1,052,433

Intangible Assets
Non-current
Goodwill on consolidation

244,473

244,473

Secured Notes
Secured notes

77,248,423

75,370,273

Maturity analysis
Due within 1 year
Due after 1 year and not later than 3 years

61,918,896
15,329,527

66,897,612
8,472,661

77,248,423

75,370,273

739,718
115,724
99,605

666,381
95,148
51,838

955,047

813,367

70,617
69,315

67,609
59,787

139,932

127,396

2,710,712

2,710,712

Payables
Current
Accrued interest payable
Other payables and accrued expenses
GST Payable

Provisions - employee entitlements
Current
Annual leave
Long service leave

Issued Capital
21,970 (2017: 21,970) Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
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16

Capital Management
Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a good debt to equity ratio, provide the
shareholders with adequate returns and to ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as a going
concern. The Group’s debt and capital includes ordinary share capital and financial liabilities, supported by financial
assets. The Group needs to meet certain capital requirements imposed by its Trustee. These capital requirements
have been met for the year ended 30 June 2018. Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing
the Group’s financial risks and adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the
market. These responses include the management of secured note and loan levels and management of distributions
to shareholders.
There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management.
2018
$

2017
$

Gearing Ratio

17

The gearing for the years ended 30 June 2018 and 30 June 2017 are as follows:
Secured notes
12
77,248,423
Payables
13
955,047
Less cash and cash equivalents
2(a)
(3,735,529)
Less due from other financial institutions
3
(16,789,000)

75,370,273
813,367
(2,928,098)
(13,914,000)

Net debt
Total equity

57,678,941
7,123,507

59,341,542
6,835,618

Total capital

64,802,448

66,177,160

Gearing ratio (net debt / total capital)

89.00%

89.67%

Financial Risk Management
The company's financial instruments consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents, deposits with other financial
institutions and loans secured by mortgage. The company's overall risk management strategy seeks to assist in
meeting its financial targets, while minimising the risks of potential adverse effects on financial performance.
Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that the other party to the financial instrument will fail to discharge the obligation or
commitment that it has entered into with the company. The company has a credit policy in place and, to the
extent possible, actively assesses the credit worthiness of borrowers and entities with whom deposits are held. The
credit policy permits the company to make loans secured by first mortgages over property with a lending ration not
exceeding 80% of the value of the property. The credit policy permits the company to make unsecured loans of not
more than $5,000 per loan. The company monitors the receipt of loan repayments from borrowers and acts in
accordance with the credit policy when loan repayments become in arrears.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance date to recognised financial assets, excluding the value of any
collateral or other security, is the carrying amount net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed
in the consolidated statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements.
The total value of mortgage loans at the balance date in arrears but not impaired was $583,477 (2017: $5,364,616)
the ageing of which is set out in the table below. The total value of the properties held as security over mortgage
loans in arrears but not impaired was $1,073,000 (2017: $10,392,000).
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2018

2017

$

Repayments in
Arrears
$

583,477
583,477

Loan Amounts
Composition of loans in arrears but not
impaired
Greater than 30 days but less than 60 days
Greater than 90 days

$

Repayments in
Arrears
$

25,091

2,464,868
2,899,748

27,907
219,533

25,091

5,364,616

247,440

Loan Amounts

The company holds cash and cash equivalent assets and deposits with other financial institutions. The company
manages the risk of default by other financial institutions by only investing with organisations that have maintained a
high credit rating.
The consolidated group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of
receivables under financial instruments entered into by the consolidated group.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due
and payable. The company is exposed to the liquidity risk of needing to meet at call secured note holders withdrawals
at any time as well as the risk of needing to meet term secured note holders withdrawals at the end of the term of the
secured note. The proportions of secured notes due within 1 year and due after 1 year are disclosed in Note 12.
The company manages liquidity by monitoring actual and forecast cashflows on a quarterly basis to ensure that it has
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they become when they become due. The company's liquidity is
measured as the cash and short-term deposits held as a proportion of total secured notes on issue. The company's
policy includes ensuring a minimum level of 7.5% liquidity is maintained and, in the event the
company's liquidity nears 7.5%, the company stops lending in order to increase its liquidity level.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of fixed
rate financial investments. The company is exposed to earnings volatility on floating instruments as the investments of
the company largely comprise first registered mortgages with variable interest rates. The company has in place a
policy to manage interest rate risk by monitoring and controlling the level of fixed and floating rate deposits and loans
on a regular basis.
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GENERAL INFORMATION
8.1 TRUST DEED
Under the Trust Deed the Company created a charge in favour of the Trustee which, from 6th December 2016 is
Melbourne Securities Corporation Limited, as Trustee for the W&D Secured Note holders. Investors may inspect
a copy of the Trust Deed at the registered office of the Company at 44 Armstrong Street South, Ballarat, Victoria
during normal business hours.
The Company is not permitted under the Trust Deed to allow any secured borrowings of the Company and any
subsidiaries to rank for repayment ahead of W&D Secured Notes secured under the Trust Deed, except in the
case where the Company acquires a subsidiary which has a pre-existing liability and in that case the subsidiary
must not incur any further prior liabilities and the prior liability must be discharged, where there is no right of
early discharge, no later than the date or dates fixed for such discharge.
The following information summarises some of the key terms from the Trust Deed. Reference must be made to
the Trust Deed and the law for the full rights attaching to Notes issued by the Company. This section is not an
exhaustive summary of all of the key terms of the Trust Deed.
The Parties:
The parties to the Trust Deed are Webster Dolilta Finance Limited (referred to as the “Company”) and Melbourne
Securities Corporation Limited (referred to as the “Trustee”).
Security
The Company has charged by way of a security interest created prior to the commencement of the Personal
Property Securities Act 2009 as a floating charge in favour of the Trustee for the W&D Secured Note holders all
of its real and personal property and assets whatsoever and wheresoever both present and future including its
uncalled and called but unpaid capital for the time being as security for the payment of money secured.
Melbourne Securities Corporation Limited has registered a first-ranking security interest on the Personal
Property Securities Register for all of the Company's present and after-acquired property.
The Company covenants that, upon request by the Trustee, it will cause any wholly owned subsidiary (subject
to exemptions) to become a guarantor under the Deed. At present, the Company has no subsidiaries.
Borrowing Limitations
The Company’s power to borrow is limited under clause 8 of the Trust Deed. This limitation varies according to
the level of capital held, the amount of Total Tangible Assets and the amount of Total External Liabilities. The
Trust Deed also provides that, amongst other things, the borrowing limitation does not apply if the Total Tangible
Assets of the Company exceed its Total External Liabilities by at least $500,000. The Company satisfies that
requirement at the date of this Prospectus.
The amount sought through this issue of Notes will remain within the limitations contained in the Trust Deed.
Authorised Investments
The authorised investments for funds deposited with the Company at any time when the capital ratio referred to
in section 6.1 of this Prospectus is not met are as follows:
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(a) loans on mortgage of real property for generally not more than 80% of the value of the property as certified
by an approved valuer, unless the Company is insured for the amount of the advance which exceeds 80% of the
security value. The Company (or a guaranteeing subsidiary) must be named as mortgagee in the mortgage and
the total value of all such loans made by the Company to any one person or that person’s associates must not
exceed 10% of the money then deposited with the Company in respect of issued Notes;
(b) investment in real property, provided no more than 10% of money deposited with the Company in respect of
issued W&D Secured Notes is invested in real property;
(c) any investment in which a trustee may invest trust funds under Part 1 of the Trustee Act 1958 of Victoria
provided no more than 10% of money deposited with the Company in respect of issued W&D Secured Notes is
invested in such investments;
(d) a loan to or guaranteed by the government of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory or a local
government authority;
(e) money invested with a solicitors nominee company or with the responsible entity or custodian of a managed
investment scheme under the Corporations Act for the purposes of lending against the security of a mortgage,
only where the relevant mortgage complies with the loan to valuation and insurance requirements referred to in
paragraph (a);
(f) money on deposit with, or invested in, one or more of the following;
(i) an Australian bank or its subsidiary;
(ii) Australian bank accepted or endorsed bills of exchange;
(iii) a building society or a credit union as defined in the Financial Institutions (Victoria) Code or a
corresponding State or Territory law;
(iv) a cash management trust, or a cash common fund under the Trustee Companies Act 1984 (Victoria)
or a corresponding State or Territory law;
(v) bonds, stocks or other securities issued by, or guaranteed by, the government of the
Commonwealth or of a State or Territory or local government authority;
(vi) a Victorian statutory authority;
(vii) any authority under the Water Act 1989 or any licensee under the Water Industry Act 1994;
(viii) a solicitor’s mortgage investment company, whether or not constituting a charge on the property of
that company.
(g) a deposit with, a loan to, or the purchase of, bills of exchange, promissory notes, certificates of deposit or
other negotiable instruments which are accepted, drawn or endorsed by a Victorian statutory authority at time
of the deposit, loan or purchase;
(h) a loan to any person where the Company (or a Guarantor) has security rights or a right of contractual set-off
on terms acceptable to the Company over W&D Secured Notes issued by the Company for an amount of not less
than 100% of the amount advanced under the loan. Where the borrower is not the person providing the W&D
Secured Notes as security, the holder of the W&D Secured Notes must also guarantee and indemnify the
Company (or guaranteeing subsidiary) for the obligations and liabilities of the borrower on such terms and
conditions and in such form as the Company accepts before the loan is made;
(i) an investment in a person which has a credit rating issued by Standard & Poor’s (Australia) Pty Limited and
its affiliates of “AA” or higher or an equivalent rating issued by another ratings agency;
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(j) an investment in securities which have a credit rating issued by Standard & Poor’s (Australia) Pty Limited
and its affiliates of “AA” or higher for long term securities of “A1+” or higher for short term securities or an
equivalent rating issued by another ratings agency; and
(k) In an unsecured loan provided that the principal amount of such loan does not exceed $5,000.00 and that
the total of such unsecured loans do not at any time exceed 5% of the total loan portfolio of the Company.
The Company currently meets the capital ratio referred to in section 6.1 of this Prospectus and thus is not
restricted to investing only in the list of Authorised Investments listed above.
Security Stock:
W&D Secured Notes may be issued by the Company to any bank or person as security for any present or future,
fixed or contingent liability (“Security Stock”). Security Stock shall be deemed to be issued fully paid unless
otherwise specified on the certificate and shall rank pari passu with all other W&D Secured Notes. Security Stock
may be issued on terms that it is payable on demand. It shall not be transferred without the consent of the
Trustee and it shall only carry interest on terms and conditions determined by the Trustee. Where the Trustee
serves on the Company a notice that an event of default specified under the Trust Deed has occurred, the holder
of Security Stock shall be entitled to payment pari passu with other W&D Secured Note holders of:
(a) the lesser of
(i) the nominal value of the Security Stock;
and
(ii) the aggregate of Actual Security Money and any Contingent Security money which have become owing
since the date of enforcement of the security; and
provided that the Trustee may set aside Contingent Security Money until such a time as it becomes Actual
Security Money or the liability for the contingency is extinguished.
(b) interest payable on the Security Stock calculated daily since the event of default on the lesser of:
(i) the nominal value of the Security Stock;
and
(ii) the actual Security money.
“Actual Security money” means in relation to any Security Stock at any date all sums of money owing at that
date (whether then due and payable or not) by the Company in respect of that Security Stock including any
premium payable and all interest accrued on such money to that date.
“Contingent Security Money” means on any date all contingent liabilities and all money which are not owing at
that date but which may thereafter become owing by the Company in relation to Security Stock, excluding any
interest which accrues after that date on any Actual Security Money as at that date in relation to the Security
Stock.
Interest:
Interest will continue to accrue to the date of redemption of W&D Secured Notes. Where the Company fails to
redeem W&D Secured Notes on the due date, interest will accrue until actual repayment of the W&D Secured
Notes. All interest so accruing is secured under the terms of the Trust Deed.
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Amendment of Trust Deed
The Trust Deed may be amended in a number of ways. In particular, the Trustee may concur with the Company
in making any alteration, modification or addition to the Trust Deed if:
(a) in the opinion of the Trustee it is made to correct a manifest error or is of a formal, technical or administrative
nature only, it is necessary to enable any W&D Secured Notes to be listed for quotation on any stock exchange
or to enable the issue of W&D Secured Notes expressed to be instruments payable to bearer, it is required to
comply with any law or amendment to the Corporations Act, or it is not prejudicial to the interests of the W&D
Secured Note holders;
(b) the alteration, modification or addition is approved by extraordinary resolution of the W&D Secured Note
holders in accordance with the Trust Deed;
(c) the Company circulates to all W&D Secured Note holders prior to any amendment the terms of the proposed
amendment and an offer to Note holders to redeem their Notes by payment in cash in accordance with the Trust
Deed;
(d) the proposed amendment takes effect prior to redemption of the W&D Secured Notes and W&D Secured
Note holders have been offered additional security to compensate for any derogation of their rights upon making
such amendment to the Trust Deed, a Directors’ certificate is provided to that effect to the Trustee, and the
amendment is approved by extraordinary resolution of W&D Secured Note holders;
(e) the proposed amendment takes effect only after the redemption of all W&D Secured Note issued on the
terms of the Trust Deed prior to the date of operation of such amendment, and all W&D Secured Notes then
outstanding as at the date the proposed amendment comes into force have been issued on the terms of the
Trust Deed as amended.
8.2

REGISTER OF NOTE HOLDERS AND YOUR PRIVACY

Protecting your privacy is important to us. We take reasonable care to ensure that our record of your personal
information is accurate, protected from misuse and treated confidentiality in accordance with the Privacy Act
1988 (Cth) and the Australian Privacy Principles contained in the Privacy Act.
The Company will collect, hold and use your personal information to facilitate the issue of Notes to you, service
your needs as a Note holder, facilitate distribution payments, communicate with you, provide facilities requested
and carry out appropriate administration. The Company may also use your personal information to market to you
other financial products and services offered by it.
Your personal information may also be used from time to time and disclosed for purposes relating to your
investment to the Company’s agents and service providers it may engage in connection with the ordinary conduct
of its operations, persons inspecting the Note register, print service providers, mail houses, regulatory bodies,
including the Australian Taxation Office, authorised securities brokers, legal and accounting firms, auditors, other
advisers for the purpose of advising on the Notes or as otherwise required under the Privacy Act.
The Company maintains a Register of Note holders at its registered office. The Australian taxation legislation
and the Corporations Act require personal information about Applicants, including name, address and details
about Notes, to be included on the Register of Note holders. Personal information held on the Note register
must be accessible to the public under the Corporations Act and will continue to be included on the Note register
where you cease to be a Note holder.
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During normal business hours, Note holders and other persons have a limited right to inspect the Register or
request the Company to provide a copy of the Register or part of the Register in accordance with a declaration
by ASIC. The Register may also be inspected by the Trustee, our auditor or otherwise as required by law.
If you do not consent to these uses or disclosures, you should not complete the Application Form which
accompanies this Prospectus. Without your personal information the Company may be unable to process or
accept your application for Notes or to operate or administer your investment.
You should notify the Company of any changes to your personal information that we hold about you including
your name, address and other contact details. If you wish to know or update the personal information the
Company holds about you, please write to the Privacy Officer at the Company’s principal business office at:
44 Armstrong Street South
Ballarat Vic 3350.
You will generally be provided access to your personal information, subject to some exceptions permitted by law.
You may be required to pay a reasonable fee to the Company to gain access to your personal information. Please
contact the Company if you wish to lodge a complaint about the management of your personal information or
obtain further information about the Company’s privacy practices.
8.3 COMPLAINTS RESOLUTION
The Company’s policy is to handle complaints by Note holders promptly and fairly. Should you have a complaint
about a decision the Company makes in relation to your Notes, you may write to the Complaints Officer or visit
our offices at 44 Armstrong Street South, Ballarat. Vic 3350.
Your complaint will be acknowledged within seven (7) business days and we will advise you of our decision on
your complaint within forty five (45) business days.
As detailed under our Australian Financial Services Licence, if you feel that we have not satisfactorily resolved
your complaint, you will be able to refer your complaint to an approved and independent external dispute
resolution body called Australian Financial Complaints Authority (‘AFCA’). Details of how to access this service
are available online at www.afca.org.au or at the Company’s Registered Office.
8.4 ANTI MONEY LAUNDERING AND COUNTER-TERRORISM FINANCING
You must not knowingly do anything to put the Company in breach of the Anti-Money Laundering and CounterTerrorism Financing Act 2006, rules and other subordinate instruments (AML/CTF Laws). You undertake to
notify the Company if you are aware of anything that would put the Company in breach of AML/CTF Laws.
If requested you must provide additional information and assistance and comply with all reasonable requests
to facilitate the Company’s compliance with AML/CTF Laws in Australia or an equivalent law in an overseas
jurisdiction.
You undertake that you are not aware and have no reason to suspect that:
1

the money used to fund the investment is derived from or related to money laundering, terrorism
financing or similar activities (Illegal Activities); and
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2

proceeds of investment made in connection with this product will fund Illegal Activities.

The Company is subject to AML/CTF Laws. In making an application pursuant to this Prospectus you consent to
the Company disclosing in connection with AML/CTF Laws any of your Personal Information as defined in the
Privacy Act 1988 (Cth) the Company has.
In certain circumstances the Company may be obliged to freeze or block an account where it is used in
connection with Illegal Activities or suspected Illegal Activities. Freezing or blocking can arise as a result of the
account monitoring that is required by AML/CTF Laws. If this occurs, the Company is not liable to you for any
consequences or losses whatsoever and you agree to indemnify the Company if the Company is found liable to
a third party in connection with the freezing or blocking of your account.
The Company retains the right not to provide services to any applicant that the Company decides, in its sole
discretion, that it does not wish to supply.
8.5 CORPORATIONS ACT REQUIREMENTS
Interests of Directors and others
No Director of the Company, or other person described in section 711(4) of the Corporations Act, has an interest
in the formation or promotion of the Company or in property proposed to be acquired by the Company (in
connection with its formation or promotion or this offer of Notes) or this offer of Notes generally that existed
when the Prospectus was lodged or existed within 2 years before the lodgement of the Prospectus, except the
interest held directly or indirectly as set out below:
(a) Directors, either directly or otherwise, have a beneficial interest in the following ordinary shares.
Directors
William Hamish McGregor

1765

Robert Norman Whitcher

2087

Robert Andrew Baird

3306

Neale John Gribble

3055

Philip Charles Cunningham

2964

Robert Geoffrey Cunningham

2884

Timothy Shane Bunning

300

(b) The Company may approve loans to Directors or entities associated with Directors, on normal commercial
terms and conditions.
The Directors will not directly or indirectly receive brokerage on amounts subscribed for Notes issued by the
Company.
Where a Director has a beneficial interest in a licensed investment adviser, the adviser will remain eligible to
receive brokerage which the Company may pay calculated on the amount subscribed at the rates disclosed in
section 5.8 of this Prospectus. No Director had such an interest when the Prospectus was lodged or within 2
years prior to the date of lodgement.
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No amounts have been paid or agreed to be paid and no benefit has been given or agreed to be given:
(a) to any Director or proposed Director to induce them to become or to qualify as a Director;
(b) to a Director or proposed Director (or other person specified in section 711(4) of the Corporations
Act) in connection with the formation or promotion of the Company or this offer of Notes except as
follows:
(i) the Company has paid $3,000 to RSM Australia Partners for the Financial Statement
contained in this Prospectus.
(ii) the Directors have been and continue to be entitled to receive director’s fees (currently
not exceeding $50,000 per annum) for the ongoing management of the Company and to
receive salaries and other entitlements as employees of the Company without specific
provision being made for services rendered in connection with the promotion of the Company
or this issue of Notes.
(iii) Neale John Gribble and Robert Andrew Baird are Directors of the company and are both
Directors of Baird & McGregor Pty Ltd, which
1. Acts as solicitors to the company and will be entitled to receive fees for legal services
rendered to the company.
2. Will receive legal fees paid by mortgagors in relation to the preparation of documents for
loans by the company on the mortgages of real property.
Consents and Responsibility Statements
Melbourne Securities Corporation Limited has given and not withdrawn its consent to be named as the trustee
for the Secured Notes. The Trustee’s role in the preparation of this Prospectus has been limited to reviewing the
Prospectus to ensure its contents are not inconsistent with the provisions of the Trust Deed. The Trustee has
not authorised or caused the issue of this Prospectus. Neither the Trustee nor any member of Melbourne
Securities Corporation Limited makes any representations as to the truth or accuracy of the contents of this
Prospectus other than the statements which specifically refer to the Trustee or the provisions of the Trust Deed
contained in sections 4, 5, 6 and 8.1 of this Prospectus. The Trustee does not make any representations
regarding or accepting any responsibility for any statements or omissions in or from any other parts of this
Prospectus. Neither the Directors of the Company, the Trustee nor any member of Melbourne Securities
Corporation Limited make any representations as to the performance of the issue, the maintenance of capital
or any particular rate of return.
RSM Australia Partners has given and not withdrawn its written consent to be named in this Prospectus as
Auditor. RSM Australia Partners has not been involved in the preparation of this Prospectus, has not authorised
or caused the issue of this Prospectus and specifically disclaims liability to any person in respect of statements
included elsewhere in this Prospectus.
RSM Australia Pty Ltd has given and not withdrawn its written consent to be named in this Prospectus and to
the issue of this Prospectus with the inclusion of the Independent Limited Assurance Report set out in Section
7 in the form and context in which it is included. RSM Australia Pty Ltd has not been involved in the preparation
of any other part of this Prospectus, has not authorised or caused the issue of any other part of this Prospectus
and specifically disclaims liability to any person in respect of statements included elsewhere in this Prospectus.
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Baird & McGregor Pty Ltd has given and not withdrawn its written consent to be named as Solicitors to the
Company in this Prospectus. Its name appears for information purposes only. Baird & McGregor Pty Ltd has not
been involved in the preparation of any part of this Prospectus, has not authorised or caused the issue of, and
expressly disclaims and takes no responsibility for any part of this Prospectus.
Register of Note holders:
The Company maintains a register of Note holders at its registered office in accordance with its obligations under
the Corporations Act. The Company will on request give to a Note holder or holder of shares in the Company a
copy of the register or any part thereof and during normal business hours of the Company the register will be
open for inspection by investors and other persons in accordance with the Corporations Act.
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8.6 STATISTICAL INFORMATION

Secured Notes as at 30 June 2018
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This graph represents the Notes issued by the company as at the 30 June year.
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This graph represents the loan balances as at the 30 June each year.
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2018

Mortgage Loans in $ by Loan Purpose
at
30 June 2018
Hotel
1%

Rural
8%

Other
0%

Property
Development
13%
Industrial

2%

Residential
60%

Commercial
16%

Loan Purpose
Residential
Commercial

Total amount of loans advanced
33,908,709
9,394,145

Number of Loans
117
23

Industrial
Property Development
Hotel

953,117
7,602,959
609,472

6
8
1

Rural

4,330,428

17

Other

112,041
56,910,871

17
189

Loans by Security Location ($)
30 June 2018
NSW
3%
Melbourne
17%

Ballarat &
District
58%

Regional
Victoria
22%

All loans other than 74 which total $24,057,661 have securities located within Ballarat & surrounding areas.
This graph represents the location of securities for loans as at 30 June 2018.
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9. DIRECTORS STATEMENT
The Directors report that, from the period ended 30 June 2018 to the date of this Directors’ Statement, they
have not become aware of any circumstances which have or will materially affect the trading and profitability
of the company or the value of its assets and liabilities.
The Directors are of the view that having regard to the Company’s past performance and current market
activities, the Company will continue to trade successfully in the coming year.
The Directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Company will be in a position to meet, as they fall
due, interest and principal payments on Notes issued under this Prospectus.
If you do not understand any of the material in this Prospectus, the Directors urge you to consult your financial
adviser.
Signed by or on behalf of the Directors of the Company, each of whom have consented to the lodgement of this
Prospectus.

William Hamish McGregor

Robert Norman Whitcher

Neale John Gribble

Robert Geoffrey Cunningham

Philip Charles Cunningham

Robert Andrew Baird

Timothy Shane Bunning
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Webster Dolilta Finance Limited
Prospectus No. 21
This document forms part of the prospectus No. 21 (the prospectus) issued by Webster Dolilta Finance Ltd (the
Company) where the prospectus is made available in electronic form.
Please note:
1.
2.

The offer or invitation to which the prospectus relates is available to persons receiving the electronic
prospectus in Australia.
The Notes to be issued under the prospectus will only be issued on receipt by the Company of the
application form which is issued with this prospectus. The application form is the document
immediately following the prospectus.
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WEBSTER DOLILTA FINANCE LTD
ABN 49 004 664 322

INVESTMENT APPLICATION FORM
PROSPECTUS No. 21
I/We apply for Notes of Webster Dolilta Finance Limited ACN 004 664 322 as detailed below on the terms and conditions
th
contained in Prospectus 21 dated 13 November 2018 and on this application form.
I/We declare that all statements made by me/us are complete and accurate and agree to be bound by the provisions of the
Trust Deed dated 17 December 1999 as amended from time to time.
This Application Form must not be issued to any person unless accompanied by the Prospectus to which it relates.
th
No Notes will be issued on the basis of the Prospectus after the expiry date of 12 December 2019.

PERSONAL DETAILS (Surname and given Names)
APPLICANT 1
Mr/Mrs/Miss/Ms

APPLICANT 2
Mr/Mrs/Miss/Ms

COMPANY NAME

Date of Birth

/

/

Date of Birth

/

/

ABN

ADDRESS AND POSTCODE
CONTACT NAME & PHONE NUMBER
EMAIL ADDRESS

INVESTMENT DETAILS
TERM

INTEREST RATE
% p.a

36 months

%

24 months

%

12 months

%

9 months

%

6 months

%

3 months

%

31 Day Notice

%

AMOUNT INVESTED ($)

INTEREST FREQUENCY

Interest rates and terms may be varied by Webster Dolilta Finance Limited at any time. Variations will only apply to
applications lodged on or after the date of variation. 31 Day Notice interest rates may be varied at any time without
notice to depositors. Applicants are advised to confirm with Webster Dolilta Finance Limited that the Application
Form is still current prior to completion. If the interest rate or investment period specified on any Application made
by an Investor is out of date, application monies may be refunded on the terms set out in the Prospectus.
th

Interest is calculated daily and in the case of 31 Day Notice Notes is payable half yearly on the 15 days of May and
November or on maturity of the investment. Interest on 3 month Notes is payable on maturity, and on all other term
deposits interest is paid quarterly or on maturity of the investment as selected by you.

INTEREST IS TO BE PAID BY:
Re

Reinvestment in the same account (compounding)
Credit to bank account:

Account Name

_____________________________________

BSB________________ A/C____________________________
Other (please specify) _______________________________________________________
If no selection is made, interest will be reinvested.

TAX FILE NUMBERS
I/We authorise for this/these Tax File Number(s) or Exemptions to be applied to my/our investments and any subsequent
investments in my/our name. Please choose one of the following options and complete the details as shown.

A.

I/We wish to quote my/our Tax File Number(s), or claim the Exemption shown below:
APPLICANT NAME

TAX FILE NUMBER

/

/

/

/

EXEMPTION

Please select the type of investment:
“I”

Investment held in one name only

“C”

Investment held by a company

“T”

Investment held in trust

“J”

Investment held in more than one name

“P” Investment held by a partnership

B.

I/We authorise Webster Dolilta Finance Limited to use my/our Tax File Number of Exemption already on file.

C.

Please advise if you hold an overseas Tax File Number
-

If Yes please advise:

Yes

No

(i)Tax File Number___________________ (ii) Country ________________________

Collection of tax file numbers is authorised by tax laws and the Privacy Act and their use and disclosure are strictly regulated.
Quotation is not compulsory but tax must be taken out of interest payments at the top personal marginal rate plus the
Medicare Levy (currently 47% in aggregate) if you do not quote your file number or claim an exemption. Your tax file number
will be applied automatically to all subsequent investments in your name unless you notify Webster Dolilta Finance limited at
any time that you do not wish your tax file number to be applied to a particular investment. For more information about the
use of tax file numbers or available exemptions, please contact the Australian Taxation Office.

PLEASE SELECT
Any to sign

Any two to sign

All to sign

If no selection is made, all joint note holders must sign all notices, request or communications to the company. If you elect for
any one to sign, the Company may receive and act upon a notice, request or communication signed by any one note holder.

SIGNATURE (S)
If the Applicant is less than 18 years, the Application Form must be signed by one of the Applicant’s parents or legal
guardian.

APPLICANT (1)

Date

/

/

APPLICANT (2)

Date

/

/

Date

/

/

Director
Director / Secretary

COMPANY

OFFICE USE ONLY
Account No.

Operator

Source

Branch

Processor

Identification
Checked







































































































































































































































































































